Summons to Meeting
Monday 28 June 2021

Development Panel
Tuesday 6 July 2021, 10.00 am
Wigton Market Hall, CA7 9AA
Membership:
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair)
Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Allan Daniels
Councillor George Kemp
Councillor Antony McGuckin
Councillor Andrew Semple

Councillor Janet Farebrother (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Nicky Cockburn
Councillor Daniel Horsley
Councillor Elaine Lynch
Councillor Ron Munby MBE
Councillor Alan Tyson

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting although numbers will be
restricted in line with national Covid guidelines.
If you have any questions or queries contact Democratic Services on 01900 702502

Agenda
1.

Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 13 April 2021.

2.

Apologies for Absence

3.

Declaration of Interests
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4.

Questions
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two
clear working days before the day of the meeting.

5.

Development Panel - FUL/2019/0251 - Langrigg Hall, Langrigg Retrospective application for change of use of farm buildings to house 1x
CHP and 1x RHI unit and erection of associated chimneys (increase in
height of 2no chimneys) Heat 2x properties not in association with the farm
and heat used to dry paper for animals. (Pages 11 - 38)

6.

Development Panel - FUL/2020/0022 - Langrigg Hall, Langrigg - Change of
use of building for storage of woodchip fuel for boilers associated with
farm (Pages 39 - 46)

7.

Development Panel - FUL/2020/0223 - Land opposite the Willows, Flimby Erection of agricultural store building for the housing of animals and
horses (Pages 47 - 58)

8.

Development Panel - VAR/2020/0507 - Dovenby Hall Estate, Dovenby Removal of highways condition (Pages 59 - 84)

9.

Development Panel - FUL/2019/0160 - Land Opposite, Verona, Blitterlees,
Silloth, Wigton, Cumbria, CA7 4JJ - 5 detached bungalows (Pages 85 - 112)

10. Development Panel - FUL/2021/0006 - Dearham Road, Maryport - Two
Dwellings (Pages 113 - 126)
11. Development Panel - CLDP/2021/0002 - 3 Honister Drive, Cockermouth New Porch (Pages 127 - 130)

Chief Executive

Date of Next Meeting:
Tuesday 3 August 2021, 1.00 pm
Venue to be confirmed

Agenda Item 1
At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Zoom Virtual Meeting on Tuesday 13
April 2021 at 1.00 pm
Members
Councillor Nicky Cockburn (Chair)
Councillor Allan Daniels
Councillor Daniel Horsley
Councillor Elaine Lynch
Councillor Paul Scott
Councillor Alan Smith

Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Adrian Kirkbride
Councillor Ron Munby MBE
Councillor Andrew Semple
Councillor Alan Tyson

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Carole Armstrong
Staff Present
J Irving, L Jardine, J Morgan and S Sharp

395.

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 February 2021 were signed as a correct
record.

396.

Declaration of Interests
None declared

397.

Questions
None received

398.

Development Panel - FUL/2021/0026 - Barncroft, 16, High Seaton, Seaton Proposed erection of 2no 3 bed dormer dwellings (Type B & C)
resubmission of FUL/2020/0043
Representations
Joanne Mounsey spoke against the application
A letter of support was read out on behalf of the applicant.
Application
The report recommended to grant permission subject to conditions.
Members were advised that an application for this site had previously been to
Development Panel (FUL/2020/0043) and that members had attended a site
visit. That application had been refused due to the unacceptable effect dwelling
A had on the residential amenity of No 17 High Seaton.
This application is for plots B and C only.

Page 3

The Planning and Building Control Manager then went through the main issues
as detailed in the report.
Principle of Development
The site falls within the settlement limit of the adopted Part 2 of the Local Plan.
Seaton is included as part of the Principal Centre in policy S3 of the Allerdale
Local Plan Part 1. This Centre is expected to absorb 35% of the total growth
provision across the Plan period. The site is a sustainable location, well related
to the existing built form of Seaton.
Scale and Design and Impact upon Residential Amenity
Given the amended design and revisions to the scale, massing and design of
the proposed dwellings that was previously amended and submitted under
planning application FUL/2020/0043, officers consider the proposed
development is acceptable and assimilates into the local built landscape. There
are no additional amendments from the former proposal in relation to dwellings
B & C. The proposed 2 dwellings are not considered to give rise to significant
amenity impacts on surrounding homes.
Flood Risk & Drainage
The site is entirely in flood zone 1, the preferred location for the more vulnerable
use proposed here. There are no known critical drainage problems or surface
water flooding records for the site. The County Council in their capacity as Lead
Local Flood Authority raise no objections to the proposal.
Highway Safety
This is a modest proposal. The sustainable location and small scale of the
proposal will mean that residual trips to and from the site by car will be very low.
Adequate sight lines can be afforded onto Fernleigh Drive and then onto High
Seaton.
Members were also shown plans and images of the site including the location
within the village of Seaton.
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the
main grounds of which were set out in the report.
Questions were asked of the speakers and officers in relation to listed buildings,
ecology, drainage, culverts, and permeable paving.
Councillor Grainger moved the motion to approve recommendations as set out
in the officer’s report.
The motion was seconded by Councillor Daniels.
Debate then ensued in relation to overlooking and whether the development fits
within the character of neighbouring properties. The debate included references

Page 4

and consideration of the impact of the listed farmhouse towards the village
centre. The debate also considered the prevailing characters of Fernleigh Drive,
Fernleigh Close and High Seaton. It was clear that members’ thoughts on these
matters were mixed.
A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 6 voted in favour, 6 against and 0
abstentions.
As the vote was tied, the Chair had the casting vote and voted for the motion.
The motion was carried.
Resolution
Grant permission, subject to conditions as per officer’s recommendations.
Conditions
Time Limit:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration
of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.
In Accordance:
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in
accordance with the following plans:
DWG 04051 01 – Proposed Floor Plans, House Type B
DWG 04052 01 - Proposed Floor Plans, House Type C
DWG 05052 02 – Proposed Elevations
DWG 04024 03 – Proposed Surface Water Drainage
DWG 05051 01 – Proposed Elevations, House Type B
DWG 212 05026 – Site Location Plan
Drainage and Flood Risk Assessment Report
Design and Access Statement
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.
Pre-commencement conditions:
3. No development pursuant to this permission shall commence until
there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority:‐
(a) a desk top study carried out by a competent person documenting all
the previous and existing land uses of the site and adjacent land in

Page 5

accordance with national guidance as set out in Contaminated Land
Research Report Nos. 2 and 3 and BS10175:2011; and
(b) a site investigation report documenting the ground conditions of the
site and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as being
appropriate by the desk study in accordance with BS10175:2011‐
Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites ‐ Code of Practice; and
(c) a detailed scheme for remedial works and measures to be undertaken
to avoid risk from contaminants/or gases when the site is developed. The
scheme must include a timetable of works and site management
procedures and the nomination of a competent person to oversee the
implementation of the works. The scheme must ensure that the site will
not qualify as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 and if necessary proposals for future maintenance
and monitoring. If during any works contamination is encountered which
has not been previously identified it should be reported immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. The additional contamination shall be fully
assessed and an appropriate remediation scheme, agreed in writing with
the Local Planning Authority. This must be conducted in accordance with
DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Contamination Land
Guidance at: https://www.gov.uk/contaminated‐land, Last accessed
October 2019.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and
other offsite receptors to accord with policy S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part
1 2014.
Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions:
4. Neither of the two dwellings hereby permitted hereby permitted shall be
first occupied until there has been submitted to the Local Planning
Authority verification by the competent person approved under the
provisions of condition 3(c) that any remediation scheme required and
approved under the provisions of condition 3(c) has been implemented
fully in accordance with the approved details (unless varied with the
written agreement of the Local Planning Authority in advance of
implementation). Thereafter the scheme shall be monitored and
maintained in accordance with the scheme approved under condition 3(c),
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and
other offsite receptors and to accord with policy S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan
Part 1 2014.

Page 6

5. Neither of the two dwellings hereby approved shall be first occupied
until the vehicular access and surface water drainage system have been
completed in accordance with plans:  212 04024 Rev 03 – Proposed Site
Plan  Drainage and flood risk assessment The said access and drainage
system (including the rainwater harvesting) shall thereafter be retained for
the lifetime of the development.
Reason: In the interests of highways safety and to ensure no increase in flood
risk on site and to adjoining properties and to accord with policy S22 and the
drainage hierarchy in policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.
6. The dwelling C hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until the
ground floor window on the South Western elevation on the approved
plan 05052 Rev 02 - Proposed Elevations for Type C House have been
fitted with obscure glazing. The obscure glazing shall thereafter be
retained and maintained for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, in accordance with Policy S32 of
the Allerdale Local Plan, Part 1, Adopted July 2014
7. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or in any Statutory
Instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without
modification) no development falling within Classes A, B, C and E of Part
1 of Schedule 2 of the said Order shall be carried out to either of the two
dwellings hereby permitted without the prior written permission of the
Local Planning Authority upon an application submitted to it.
Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain control over any
proposed alterations/extensions in the interests of the appearance of the site
and safeguard the amenities of adjacent properties to accord with policy S32 of
the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.
8. Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, details for that dwelling
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority of either:a) Evidence that the applicant will provide onsite access to broadband
infrastructure providers during the construction process to allow the
providers to install the necessary broadband infrastructure; or
b) Evidence, following contact with broadband infrastructure providers,
that it is not practicably or viably possible to install broadband
infrastructure to achieve superfast (as defined by Government standards)
fibre broadband connectivity.
Reason: To seek to secure sustainable superfast (as defined by Government
standards) fibre broadband connectivity in accordance with policy SA33 of the
modified Submission Draft of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 (2018).
Advisory Note
Any works within the Highway must be agreed with the Highway Authority. No
works and/ or any person performing works on any part of the Highway,

Page 7

including verges, will be permitted, until in receipt of an appropriate permit
allowing such works. Enquiries should be made to Cumbria County Councils
Street works team.
399.

Development Panel - FUL/2021/0049 - Barncroft, 16, High Seaton, Seaton Re-submission of application FUL/2020/0043 for a detached dormer type
dwelling and detached garage
Representations
Joanne Mounsey spoke against the application.
A letter of support was read out on behalf of the applicant.
Application
The report recommended to grant permission subject to conditions
Members were advised that this site has previously been to Development Panel
(FUL/2020/0043) and that they had attended a site visit, the application was
refused due to the unacceptable effect dwelling A had on the residential
amenity of No 17 High Seaton.
The Planning and Building Control Manager then went through the main issues
as detailed in the report.
Principle of Development
The site falls within the settlement limit of the adopted Part 2 of the Local Plan
Seaton is included as part of the Principal Centre in policy S3 of the Allerdale
Local Plan Part 1. This Centre is expected to absorb 35% of the total growth
provision across the Plan period. The site is a sustainable location, well related
to the existing built form of Seaton.
Scale and Design and Impact upon Residential Amenity
Flood Risk & Drainage
Highway Safety
Members were also shown plans and images of the site including the location
within the village of Seaton.
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the
main grounds of which were set out in the report.
Questions were asked of the speakers in relation to privacy, residential amenity,
hedges, boundary walls, and surface water.
Questions were then asked of officers and debated ensued in relation to
separation distances, the size of the footprint, the street scene and flooding.
Members were shown the block plan of the previous approval for this area of

Page 8

the garden and noted the material differences between it and the current
application. Members’ debate particularly focused on the relationship of the
building proposed and No. 17, High Seaton’s windows on the gable end facing
the site. The differences in levels were also noted and an area of the debate
focused on the amount of garden space that would be afforded to the new
dwelling given that 16, High Seaton would retain the land between it and the
High Seaton itself.
Councillor Scott moved the motion to refuse permission as the development is
contrary to part D, of section 32 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014 as
dwelling A as proposed has an unacceptable effect on the residential amenity of
No. 17 High Seaton in terms of loss of privacy as a result of overlooking, an
increased sense of enclosure as a result of being overbearing and loss of
sunlight and daylight received as a result of overshadowing. The development
also constitutes overdevelopment in the context of the existing character of the
area, due to its increased footprint which is contrary to policy S5 (Development
Principles) of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1, 2014.
The motion was seconded by Councillor Farebrother.
A vote was taken on the motion to refuse, 11 voted in favour, 1 voted against
and 0 abstentions
The motion was carried.
Resolution
Permission refused as the development is contrary to part D, of section 32 of
the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014 as dwelling A as proposed has an
unacceptable effect on the residential amenity of No. 17 High Seaton in terms of
loss of privacy as a result of overlooking, an increased sense of enclosure as a
result of being overbearing and loss of sunlight and daylight received as a result
of overshadowing. The development also constitutes overdevelopment in the
context of the existing character of the area, due to its increased footprint which
is contrary to policy S5 (Development Principles) of the Allerdale Local Plan
Part 1, 2014.
The meeting closed at 3.30 pm

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10

Agenda Item 5
Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application FUL/2019/0251
Development Panel Report
Reference Number:
Valid Date:
Location:
Applicant:
Proposal:

FUL/2019/0251
14/11/2019
Langrigg Hall Wigton
E Gate
Retrospective application for change of use of farm
buildings to house 1x CHP and 1x RHI unit and
erection of associated chimneys (increase in height of
2no chimneys) Heat 2x properties not in association
with the farm and heat used to dry paper for animal
bedding (approx 10% removed)

RECOMMENDATION
Grant permission subject to conditions
1.

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

Principle of Development

Policy S19 of the Local Plan (Part 1) seeks
to promote and encourage the
development of renewable and low carbon
energy resources given the significant
wider environmental, community and
economic benefits. The proposal accords
with these objectives.

Design/Visual Impact

The flues (described as chimneys in the
application) will be viewed in the context of
large farm buildings and against the
backdrop of the lines of pylons. They will
assimilate into the environment of existing
buildings, and will not exert a harmful
impact on the character and appearance
of the locality, in accordance with policies
S4 and S33.

Amenity

The applicant has proposed several
mitigation measures that will address the
ongoing noise issues experienced from the
boilers. These include wood chipping
being undertaken off-site and the CHP
plant only operating between day-time

Page 11

hours.
With regards to air quality the applicant
has been able to demonstrate that the
proposal is acceptable in accordance with
policies S2, S4 and S32 of the Allerdale
Local Plan Part 1 2014.
The proposal is acceptable but only with
conditions in place to mitigate the impacts
of the development to an acceptable level.
Heritage Impact

The flues will be viewed in the context of
the farm buildings with the existing
planting and that approved under an
earlier application on the site offering a
degree of screening from the Listed
Building. It is considered that the
significantly less than substantial harm to
the setting of the listed building would be
outweighed by the public benefits of the
low carbon heat and power produced. In
terms of impact on the heritage asset,
officers consider the proposal to be
acceptable and in accordance with Policy
S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1
2014.

Highway Issues

It is considered the proposal will be
unlikely to have a material effect on
highway conditions.

2.

Introduction

2.1.

Members will note that the application form describes the proposal as
“retrospective.” This is partly the case but it must be noted that the application
before them is not to regularise the development currently on site. It is to retain
the flues and increase their height as well as use the boilers for the purposes
described in section 3 of this report. Therefore, this application is not purely
retrospective and must be considered on the basis of the details provided.

2.2.

The Council have and will continue to investigate any breaches of Planning as
well as complaints of a statutory nuisance (Environmental Health).

2.3.

A previous scheme on this site, ref 2/2018/0097, came before members in
December 2018. The application was refused in accordance with the officer’s
recommendations on the following grounds:

Page 12

“The Local Planning Authority consider that, without mitigation measures to
ensure that the daytime rated level is no more than 5 dB above background
noise level and at night time that the rated noise level does not increase above
background noise levels, the proposed operating CHP Unit and Biomass Units
has an unacceptable impact on the amenity of existing residential properties
within this rural village. The proposal is considered contrary to Policies S2, S4
and S32 of the Allerdale Local Pan (part 1), Adopted July 2014 and paragraphs
154 and 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework.”
2.4.

Action was pursued by the Council as the local planning authority following the
continued use of biomass units on site. An Enforcement Notice was served.
Before the Council prosecuted for non-compliance of the Notice, it was
withdrawn. This was because there had been progress made with negotiations
with the applicant and their agents. Amendments were made on site including the
reduction in flue heights and the cessation of the use of one of the three boilers.
In this context it was not reasonable to pursue the prosecution at that time. With
the processing of the current application, cooperation of the applicant’s agent
and changes to the development, it has been the officer’s opinion not to pursue
formal enforcement action since the withdrawal of the Notice.

2.5.

The current application then came before members in August 2020 where
officers recommended the application be deferred to allow additional noise
reading to be carried. An updated noise report has now been received.

3.

Proposal

3.1.

The current application seeks partial retrospective planning permission for the
change of use of farm buildings to house 1 x Biomass CHP (Combined Heat and
Power) and 1 x RHI (Renewable Heat Incentive)1 unit with the proposed external
alterations to the building involving the increase in height of 2 existing flues. In
addition to exporting power to the grid, it is proposed that the units are also used
to continue to heat 2 dwellings not in association with the farm (in addition to 2
dwellings on the farm) and for the heat to continue to be used to dry paper for
animal bedding (approx. 10% removed from farm) and drying the woodchip fuel.

3.2.

The Plans for consideration are:D.02 Site Plan
D.03 Location plan
D.01c Floor Plans & Elevations received 22.11.2019
Planning & Historic Statement received 07.04.2021
Noise Impact Assessment revision L received 02.06.2021
Addendum to Noise Impact Assessment received 02.06.2021
Letter received 26.02.2020
On Site Processes received 10.03.2020

1

The Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI) is a UK Government scheme aiming to encourage uptake of renewable heat technologies
amongst householders, communities and businesses through financial incentives.

Page 13

Location Plan – storage 18.02.2020
ref 18-4275 Air Quality Assessment
Boiler Data Sheet received 09.03.2020
Boiler Reference 18.02.2020
Commissioning Certificates
D1 Stack Height Assessment
Biomass Boiler Information
Emissions Certificates
Email received 09.03.2020
The particulars are available to view via the following link:https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
218490
4.

Site

4.1.

The application site is an existing operational farmstead lying in the village of
Langrigg. The farmhouse is a Grade II Listed Building set back from the highway,
within extensive grounds and enclosed by a sandstone wall. Existing modern
farm buildings lie to the northeast and extend forward to the southeast of the
farmhouse.

4.2.

Intensive livestock units (ILUs) operate from modern farm buildings to the
northern part of the farm complex. There are a range of modern agricultural
buildings southeast of the farmhouse with the buildings in question lying to the
south (front) of the site with the Listed Building to the northwest and dwellings in
the village to the southeast, south and west. In addition to the intensive livestock
unit there is a mix of other livestock farmed.

5.

Relevant Planning History

5.1.

2/2018/0097 Change of use of farm buildings to biomass CHP unit with
associated chimneys (retrospective) – Refused.
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
179854

5.2.

ENF/2019/00001 – Enforcement Notice served for the unauthorised use of the
building for the carrying out of operations associated with the commercial
processing activities relating to the CHP Unit and Biomass Units, and the
erection of the 3 external flues situated upon the building. – Notice Withdrawn.

6.

Representations
Councillor Mike Johnson

6.1.

Objects on the following grounds:-

Page 14

a) Pollution – Change in size of the Chimneys producing more smoke into
the atmosphere and impacting on the wellbeing of the residents. This is
backed up by letters received from residents/Parish Council confirming
that smoke disperses poorly and has been an issue with residents for
some time. A nearby resident has health issues that are impacted by the
smoke pollution.
b) Noise – It is considered by the residents that a red herring has been
thrown i.e. that the noise is from a Grain Dryer. The noise they feel would
be coming from the wood chipping machine and that the noise level
would be higher than background noise which would cause a nuisance
and impact again on the wellbeing of residents. This point is backed up
by residents’ letters and the Parish Council.
c) Business Use – There are several reports that the Langrigg Hall yard is
being used as a business, thus increasing the traffic in the area again
impacting on the wellbeing of residents and increasing noise. It is highly
unlikely that 90% of this paper will be used onsite, as stated in the
Planning Application. Log wagons have started to appear again, with 3
being seen on one day. The application states that there will only be one
a week.
d) Operating Hours - Again this will impact on the residents of the area with
increased traffic and noise.
e) Nuisance Smell – Several instances have been reported regarding a very
unpleasant smell. Residents feel that this is a statutory nuisance as it
substantially interferes with their enjoyment of their home and
surrounding areas. This should be investigated further.
Bromfield Parish Council
14.06.2021
Tonality and Methodology
6.2.

We have reviewed the two documents that have recently been added to the webpage for this Application. These are:
Amended Noise Impact Assessment 02.06.21 and Addendum to Noise Report
Assessment 09.06.21.

6.3.

The changes to the main report do not address either change in the methodology
nor the tonality.

6.4.

The second document states “We can confirm that we have reviewed the
potential tonality from the noise sources considered in the application and have
no evidence of any hum or tomes which would require a character correction
when assessed at the residential receptors”.

Page 15

6.5.

It is then clear that neither document address the specific issues that have been
raised in relation to methodology and tonality.

6.6.

We set out below, once again, our concerns in relation to these areas and ask
that these be addressed in full.
Noise Source

6.7.

In recent telephone conversations and emails with Parishioners, Allerdale’s
Environmental Health Manager has said she thinks that the source of the noise is
the grain dryer and not the factory, even though she acknowledges that
“residents and members of the Parish Council claimed that the grain dryer was a
red herring and was not the source of the noise disturbance at the site”.

6.8.

It is clear (and always has been) that the grain dryer is not the source of the
noise. For example The Apex Noise Report says in Section 7.19 that “Additional
background noise measurements requested by the local authority without the
grain dryer plant operating…”. So, the grain dryer was not operating during the
noise assessment in November 2020.

6.9.

However, during that assessment, we could hear noise from the factory.

6.10. During the noise assessment, Cllr Davison met an ABC Environmental Health
Officer at the gate to his property. The noise from the factory was clearly audible
even though this is several hundred yards from the factory. They had a
discussion about the noise i.e. the Council Officer heard it as well. In fact he said
he was walking round the village to find out where it could be heard from.
6.11. As he walked round the village, hearing the noise in different locations, he will
have been able to “triangulate” the source of the noise and should be able to say
that the source was the factory. He should have had access to the site at the time
and been able to go to the factory and say definitively that this was the source of
the noise. (If not, why not?).
6.12. We assumed that he did a report on his findings and we requested a copy, but
have heard nothing back. Could we please have sight of his report?
6.13. Also, we understand that the independent acoustic specialist appointed by
Allerdale was also on-site during the noise assessment, so he should be able to
confirm that there was noise from the factory and should also have been able to
identify the source. (Again, if not, why not?).
6.14. So, we have the grain dryer switched off and yet there was still noise from the
factory in the village. We have witnesses from ABC who heard the noise and
should be able to identify the source.
6.15. The grain dryer is not the source of the noise.
15.06.2020

Page 16

Noise Levels
6.16. The original Noise Assessment was commissioned by the owner and was used
at the Planning Development Meeting on 18th December 2018 where its contents
were pivotal in the decision to refuse the planning application with Enforcement
Action resolved. The Decision Notices stated:
“The Local Planning Authority consider that, without mitigation measures to
ensure that the daytime rated level is no more than 5dB above back ground
noise level and at night time that the rated level does not increase above
background noise levels, the proposed operating CHP Unit and Biomass Units
has an unacceptable impact on the amenity of existing residential properties
within this rural village.”
Despite the imposition of an Enforcement Notice, the factory has continued to
operate producing noise that, as the Decision Notices says, “has an
unacceptable impact on the amenity of existing residential properties within this
rural village”.
6.17. In examining the most recent version of the original noise report ((Amended)
Noise Impact Assessment 26.02.20) Bromfield Parish Council found a number of
shortcomings and reported these to the Council. The main concerns being that
the readings taken from the report did not appear to be representative. In
particular, the daytime ambient and residual levels of 54dB used in the report
seemed very high when levels in the range 35-40dB were actually being
observed by members of the Parish Council.
6.18. In light of these observations, Allerdale Borough Council commissioned a second
noise assessment. As the first report adhered to BS4142, the Parish Council
expected this new report to adhere to this standard as well. However, this was
not the case and the report only contains measurements of background sound
levels rather than ambient and residual as well (as would be required for a
BS4142 report). In any case, the new data shows that the 5dB limit is exceeded
around half the time during the proposed working hours.
6.19. To summarise the report, it says that there was no noise from the factory during
the first 24 hours or so and then it kicked in and was present for the remaining
time of the assessment. Differencing the noise levels before and after that time
then gives some measure of the impact of the factory.
6.20. The first table overleaf is the daytime sound levels from the most recent report.
The report says that the factory was not operating at first but started up after 24
hours or so. It has been assumed that this was 14:00 on 14/04/2020.
6.21. For the second table, again overleaf, the first table has been rearranged to
compare the 3 “days” of the assessment for the operating times that are being
proposed by the Council.

Page 17

6.22. The yellow highlighting (grey shaded in black and white print) shows that the 5dB
‘limit’ is met or exceeded 12 times on the 2 days when the factory was operating.
That is to say the, the 5dB limit is met or exceeded half of the time. We consider
this to be sufficient evidence to refuse the Planning Application.
13/04/2020
07:00
08:00
09:00
10:00
11:00
12:00
13:00
14:00
15:00
16:00
17:00
18:00
19:00
20:00
21:00
22:00
Time
07:00
08:00
09:00
10:00
11:00
12:00
13:00
14:00
15:00
16:00
17:00
18:00

35
31
33
32
34
36
36
36
35
Day 1
37
35
35
37
38
37
38
35
31
33
32
34

14/04/2020
37
35
35
37
38
37
38
40
41
42
41
37
37
39
38
38

15/04/2020
41
41
38
37
36
34
40
40
41
42
41
40
40
38
37
37

Day 2
41
41
38
37
36
34
40
40
41
42
41
37

Day 3
40
39
38
41
42
43
46
40
41
42
41
40

16/04/2020
40
39
38
41
42
43
46

DIFFERENCES
Day 2
Day 3
4
3
6
4
3
3
0
4
-2
4
-3
6
2
8
5
5
10
10
9
9
9
9
3
6

Source of the Noise
6.23. The Parish Council and a number of Parishioners have repeatedly said that the
grain dryer is a red herring and should be ignored for the purposes of assessing
the noise from the biomass plant.
a) There were no noise complaints until the installation of the biomass plant.
b) The noise assessment commissioned by the owner has no mention of a grain
dryer. In fact neither of the words ‘grain’ nor ‘dryer’ appear in that report. Had
the grain dryer been in operation at that time, the noise assessor would have
been aware of this report and included it in the report.

Page 18

c) The noise report is what was used to refuse planning permission in the first
place so, if a grain dryer had been the source, it stands to reason that the
owner would have said so at the time in order to avert the refusal.
d) We believe that the grain dryer is a diversionary tactic. There is no mention of
it in any of the documentation or correspondence until a site visit (nearly two
years after the initial complaint) by an Officer from the Council. This may have
been their first (perhaps only) site visit but they were still able to say
definitively that the noise was caused by the grain dryer. This is despite the
fact that owner of the property where the noise was being observed was also
present and was adamant that the noise from the grain dryer was not the
usual noise from the factory.
e) A grain dryer (not surprisingly) dries grain. We understand that grain is only
available to be dried at certain times of the year. The noise from the factory is
present all year. We believe that the owner has said he uses it to dry other
materials, but accepting that this accounts for all of the noise from the factory,
all year round, is simply not believable.
f) As the most recent report makes clear, the noise is produced all day and all
night. Why it would be necessary to dry grain at night is not clear.
Smoke/Emissions
6.24. Both the Parish Council and Parishioners have been complaining about the
smoke/emissions, as well as the noise, from the factory, from the outset. Other
than the initial visit by the then Environmental Officer, when the village was
smothered in smog, our complaints have either been dismissed or simply
ignored. We set out a few examples below:
a) When representatives of the Council visited the village in September 2019,
they were shown a video that showed fog-like smoke in the village. They
dismissed this completely and said that the person who showed them the
video (a Member of the Parish Council) could not complain about that as their
house was not affected by the smoke. At least two CDs or DVDs with video
and photo evidence of the smoke produced by the factory were sent to the
Council but we never heard anything back about these. We assume they
were dismissed as, even though they came from a member of the Parish
Council, their property was not directly affected. We do not understand why a
Member of the Parish Council was not allowed to complain on behalf of their
Parishioners.
b) The smoke from the factory was especially bad on Tuesday afternoon (26th
November 2019). The smoke was observed by a school bus driver as he was
driving children back from school. He said that the smoke was like smog and
was covering the road to such an extent that he could not clearly see the
verges and could not see oncoming traffic. He considered this situation to be
very dangerous and was concerned for the well-being of the children in his
care. He said this was not the first time that he had seen thick smoke from the

Page 19

factory across the roads in Langrigg, but it was the first time that it was on his
bus route to such an extent. This information and the driver’s contact details
were passed on to the Council, but he was never contacted.
c) A week or two ago (from the 15th June 2020), a Parishioner complained to the
Council about a noxious smell from the factory. This was reported to the
Parish Council by others in the village who had also experienced this. One
explained that they had spoken to a visiting workman who was so appalled by
the smell that he couldn’t understand how people live in the village. We do not
think the original complaint even got a reply.
d) At the most recent Parish Council meeting, we were informed that the factory
produced another unpleasant smell on Wednesday night (10th June), with
people describing it as like burning wool.
Mental Health
6.25. A number of Parishioners have commented on the adverse impact that the noise
and smoke from the factory has had and is having on their mental health. The
noise, particularly at night, has meant that some Parishioners’ ability to sleep has
been affected or has woken them up.
6.26. Some of the comments that we have received are set out below. Some are taken
from emails that have been sent to the Council:
a) Despite the enforcement decision, the Council has allowed the owner to
continue to operate the plant, often throughout the night, without any
considerations for my physical and mental health, and especially since the
lockdown, as a vulnerable person.
b) It ran all day on Monday and towards 11pm I could smell the familiar smoke
smell. As everyone is now at home, this noise will only serve to add to one’s
frustration and anxiety.
c) The peace and quiet in Langrigg is being completely ruined by the noise from
Langrigg Hall. The factory has been roaring since before eight this morning
and typically, a rare bright sunny day is being ruined by this impactive noise. I
had intended to spend time in my garden doing jobs, but the noise is
preventing this, as it overrides any opportunity of enjoyment. As you are
aware the problem has persisted for some time, if you are able, please do
come and hear it for yourself. It is awful.
13.03.2020
6.27. The factory still produces noise and smoke. We are in the same position we were
before the Planning Meeting in December 2018. In fact, we are actually in a
worse position as the chimneys (flues) are lower than they were at that time and
the smoke disperses poorly. The increased height would help this slightly, but not
enough. There were complaints prior to the Planning Meeting about the smoke
being produced and the chimneys were higher at that point.

Page 20

6.28. The assertion that the grain dryer is the source of the noise is a red herring. None
of the noise reports on the factory (commissioned by the owner) mention the
grain dryer. The reports state that the noise is produced by the CHP unit. The
Decision Notice from the Planning Meeting states the noise from the factory has
an unacceptable impact on the amenity of existing residential properties within
this rural village. We have been putting up with this unacceptable impact for over
15 months from the date of that meeting.
6.29. A number of parishioners have made repeated complaints about both noise and
the smoke from the factory and continue to do so. The Parish Council have
received comments from these Parishioners that they feel that their complaints
have not been taken seriously and they have, at times, felt like they have been
fobbed off. The Parish Council would like to state unambiguously that we believe
that there are serious issues with both noise and smoke emanating from the
factory.
6.30. Log wagons have started to appear again, with 3 being seen on one day alone.
The application states that there will only be one a week.
6.31. Whilst there are some photos on the Planning page on the Allerdale website that
show the use of the bedding in the chicken shed, the Parish Council is of the
opinion that there is much more paper in the yard that can be reasonably
expected to be used in the sheds. We think it highly unlikely that 90% of this
paper will be used on-site, as stated in the Application.
03.01.2020
6.32. Bromfield Parish Council strongly object to this application and would like to
make the following observations; the council do not agree with the shutdown
times of 23:00hrs to 05:00hrs. The explanation that only 10% of the bedding is
transported to other farms as and when required – there is no evidence of any
paper being used on the site. There was no evidence that the smoke, noise or
traffic had improved.
ABC Environmental Health
24.06.2021
6.33. No objection in principle to the application, however in order to minimise impact
on the surrounding amenity conditions are recommended.
Background Noise Levels
6.34. Previously concerns were raised regarding the readings taken from Apex’s
original report which did not appear to be representative. In particular, there were
concerns raised about the daytime ambient and residual levels used within the
original noise report. Members of the Parish Council observed lower ambient
within the daytime of 54dB used in the report seemed very high when levels in

Page 21

the range 32-40dB were actually being observed by members of the Parish
Council.
6.35. We appointed an independent noise consultant to assess the background noise
levels which proved to be much lower than Apex consultants had originally
stated. When we considered our survey data, background levels ranged between
31-35 (1 hour LA90) between 7am and 6pm. Apex were then required to revisit
site and carry out further monitoring. I am now satisfied with the updated report
and the findings to meet the noise criteria when all plant is in operation.
Tonality
6.36. The Parish Council raised concerns regarding the tonal corrections that had been
applied to specific sound level, Apex consultants have applied intermittency and
an impulsive acoustic feature corrections within the report. The Parish Council
raised concerns as they believe that an additional correction should be applied to
take account of a “hum”. However we had an independent consultant visit the
site they were able to observe all plant operating which forms part of this
application and they confirmed that there was no clearly audible “hum”, therefore
no additional acoustic feature correction is required to be applied. I am now
satisfied with the tonal corrections that Apex consultants have applied to the
specific sound source on site.
29.07.2020
6.37. The background sound levels the Council obtained during our survey were
compared to the specific sound level contained within the original Apex noise
assessment. The separation distance between the CHP building and the dwelling
boundary where we monitored the background sound level is approximately 230
metres. If we assume the building approximates a 'point source' at this distance,
which is a reasonable assumption, the level of sound attenuation due to distance
is approximately 47 dB.
6.38. There is a direct line-of-sight between the dwelling and the farm, however there
are two small buildings at the farm boundary. These two buildings are likely to
provide negligible acoustic screening with regard to the low frequencies emitted
by the plant (due to the size of the wavelength).
6.39. It is reasonable to assume that the plant will run continuously throughout a given
60-minute period between the hours of 7am and 6pm.
6.40. We have considered Apex's data; we consider position 11 as detailed in the
report (in the middle of the building) is a good representation of the 'reverberant'
sound level. The highest level was 82 dB LAeq,T and corresponds to boiler 2,
boiler 3, the auger and CHP running simultaneously. This is considered to be the
worst case scenario; the emissions from the two boilers now retained (Nos. 1 and
2) with the proposed higher flue heights would be no higher.
6.41. Using 82dB LAeq.T as the specific sound level generated as a result of this
development operating between 7am and 6 pm, we have adopted a standard

Page 22

acoustic calculation taking into account of the background sound level data we
obtained. This has resulted in a specific sound level at 230m of 30 dB LAeq.T.
We then applied a correction of 2+dB for tonality. This gives a rating level of 32
dB. When we consider our survey data, background sound levels range between
31 and 35 dB (LA90,1hour) between 7am and 6pm on day 1, between 35 and 42
dB on day 2 and between 34 and 42 dB on day 3. We have concluded from this
assessment that the rating level is therefore similar to, or just below the
background sound level at this particular receptor. Where the rating level does
not exceed the background sound level, this is an indication of the specific sound
source having a low impact. It’s important to appreciate that this BS4142
assessment does not determine whether noise amounts to a statutory noise
nuisance as it is subjective.
6.42. In view of the information above, we are not in a position to raise any objections
to the current application. This would be subject to the previous
recommendations for conditions including plant or machinery only operating
between the hours of 7am and 6pm.
13.03.2020
Noise
6.43. We have reviewed the Apex Acoustics’ noise assessment submitted with the
application. We note that, since the noise assessment was submitted, there has
been a change to the operations being undertaken off site. In addition the CHP
plant will only be operated during daytime hours. Based on these changes to
operation and mitigation measures then we would support this application subject
to conditions.
Air Quality
6.44. We have reviewed the Syntegra Air Quality Assessment ref 18-4275 dated July
2018. The applicant has provided details of the boilers (make and model) used
within the assessment. The assessment methodology is accepted.
6.45. The main issue with the operation of the biomass plants is the creation of smoke
emissions if incorrect fuel is used within the plant and the fuel has the wrong
moisture content. Therefore, on this matter, we do not object subject to
conditions specifying the fuel types.
02.03.2020
Noise
6.46. We have reviewed the latest revision of the noise assessment. The rating level of
the wood chipping machine is in excess of the background noise level. Therefore
we will be requesting this to be moved to another location and the noise
assessment revised to assess the noise in the new location.

Page 23

6.47. In terms of the other plant, the operating hours of 0500 hours – 2300 hours are
too early and too late. They have based the operating hours on the existing noise
levels at the time the noise survey was taken and suggest that noise levels in the
area are high from 0500 until 2300 hours. This may not be the case at all times
and therefore we would recommend a limit on the hours of use of the
plant/machinery to be in line with daytime hours e.g. 7am – 6pm.
18.02.2020
Noise
6.48. We have reviewed the Apex Acoustics noise assessment submitted with the
application. We require some additional information regarding this assessment
before full comments can be made. Further details are required on the following:
Further justification is requested on the operation of the CHP plant from 0500
hours. We would have expected this to be daytime operation only. e.g. 07002300 hours. The report should clearly state the background levels at 0500 hours
to demonstrate that this operation will not increase background noise levels from
0500 to 0700 hours.
6.49. The CHP plant BS 4142 assessment does not have any acoustic corrections
added – can further details be provided on why tonal, intermittency and impulse
corrections have not been applied? The wood chipping operation has only
intermittency added as an acoustic correction. Can the consultants advise why
an impulse acoustic correction has not been applied? Did the Cadna model fully
consider the existing sound insulation from the building?
Air Quality
6.50. We have reviewed the Syntegra Air Quality Assessment ref 18-4275 dated July
2018. This assessment does not clearly identify the units being assessed. Within
the planning application reference is made to CHP unit and RHI unit. There is
also reference in other documents to biomass boilers; BB1, BB2 and BB3. The
air quality assessment makes reference to the ‘CHP unit’. Can the consultant
clarify that the air quality assessment submitted; ref 18-4275 includes all of the
units installed on the premises? As well as this assessment specific details and
data sheets for each of the units are requested.
Dust
6.51. Further details are requested on the measures that will be taken to minimise dust
emissions during the wood chipping operation.
Smoke
6.52. The applicant has advised that previous smoke emissions were due to a different
fuel source being used. However, since the new fuel source has been used
allegations of smoke emissions grounding have been made. Can the applicant
provide a more detailed procedure for measures that will be taken to prevent
further smoke emissions from the operations of the units?

Page 24

Cumbria County Highways
6.53. Taking into account the existing use of the property and the information
submitted, it is considered that the proposal will be unlikely to have a material
effect on highway conditions. We can therefore confirm that the Highway
Authority has no objection to the proposal.
Natural England
6.54. No comments to make on this application.
Cumbria County Minerals and Waste
6.55. The development is within existing buildings in the farmyard. The Minerals
Safeguarding Area, which adjoins the application site to the north, extends
across a significant area of surrounding open land. The proposal will not prevent
access to this mineral resource for extraction in the future. We consider that
criterion 4 of Policy DC15 (Minerals Safeguarding) in the adopted Cumbria
Minerals and Waste Local Plan is satisfied. CCC therefore does not object to this
application.
County Fire Officer
6.56. No objections.
Environment Agency
6.57. No reply to date.
Other Representations
6.58. The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour
letter. Eleven letters of objection have been received. The concerns relate too:a)
b)
c)
d)

Nuisance smoke and odours coming from the site.
Noise interference.
Heavy volumes of HGV traffic daily.
The application changes what was an agricultural business into one that is
clearly industrial in nature.

6.59. One letter of support has been received who disagrees with the complaints been
received.

7.

Environmental Impact Assessment

7.1.

With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2017, the development does not within Schedule 1 nor
2 and, as such, is not EIA development.

Page 25

8.

Duties

8.1.

Given the existence of the listed farmhouse, section 66 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is relevant. It requires that the
Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural
or historic interest which it possesses.

9.

Development Plan Policies
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014

9.1.

The following policies are considered relevant:Policy S1 Presumption in Favour of Development
Policy S2 Sustainable Development
Policy S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 Design Principles
Policy S19 Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Technologies
Policy S22 Transport principles
Policy S27 Heritage Assets
Policy S32 Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 Landscape
Policy S36 Air, Water and Soil Quality
Policy DM6 Equestrian and agricultural buildings
Policy DM15 Extensions and Alterations to Existing Building and Properties
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/localplan-part-1/
Allerdale Local Plan (part 2) 2020

9.2.

Langrigg doesn’t have settlement limits in this Plan having been assessed as an
Infill and Rounding Off Village. There are no relevant Part 2 polciies.

10.

Other material considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

10.1. Paragraph 154 advises that;
“When determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon
development, local planning authorities should:
a) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low
carbon energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide a valuable
contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and

Page 26

b) approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable..”
The NPPF is available to view at:https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework-2
Allerdale Borough Council Strategy 2020-2030
10.2. A Cleaner Greener Allerdale - We recognise the significant climate issues facing
us all at present and as a council we have the power to change the way we
operate to reduce our carbon emissions and improve biodiversity, as well as
influencing local activities and behaviours through our policies.

11.

Policy weighting

11.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that,
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy.
11.2 In this instance the relevant development plan policies are considered to be
consistent with the provisions of the NPPF despite Part 1 predating the national
framework. Full weight is therefore afforded to the development plan policies and
there are no material considerations, in this instance, which are considered to
result in a decision not being made in accordance with the development plan.
12.

Assessment:
Introduction

12.1. The Biomass and RHI units can generally be installed within an existing building
for purposes ancillary to that building’s use without the need for an application
for planning permission2; they are “permitted development.” The rights are
subject to restrictions including flue heights and the power rating of the boilers
served by those flues. Here, the flues heights proposed are not permitted
development, the boiler capacities exceed the right’s parameters and their use is
not totally in association with the farm within which they sit. As such there is a
material change of use and operational development to be considered.

2

Part 14 Class N and O of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England)
Order 2015

Page 27

Principle
12.2. Policy S19 of the Local Plan (Part 1) seeks to promote and encourage the
development of renewable and low carbon energy resources given the
significant wider environmental, community and economic benefits. It is
consistent with the NPPF, paragraph 15.
12.3. It is clear that there are benefits arising from this development and its
contribution to the local carbon economy and specifically the “significant wider
environmental, community and economic benefits” cited by policy S19. Indeed
the policy advises that, where proposals can be made acceptable, they will be
permitted. Policy S19 advises that the Council will take a positive view if
proposals do not have an unacceptably adverse impact on the amenity of local
residents and noise is one of the issues cited in this criterion.
Residential amenity – policy background
12.4. Policy S32 of the Local Plan is relevant in this regard and has consistency with
Paragraph 180 of NPPF, the latter requiring that;“Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development is
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely affects (including
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural
environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to
impacts that could arise from the development. In doing so they should:
a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from
noise from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant
adverse impacts on health and the quality of life;
b) identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed
by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this
reason”
Residential amenity – noise
12.5. Nearby residents have reported being affected by noise said to be from activities
associated with the Biomass CHP Plant and RHI operations. Whilst it is
reiterated to members that the development for consideration is that detailed in
the planning application, nevertheless such experienced operations do have
significant relevance to the application’s consideration. The similarities of the
proposal and the current/past operations mean that data can be used to inform
the analysis undertaken and conclusions drawn. In this context a full Noise
Assessment in relation to the Biomass and CHP Operations has been
undertaken at the site by the applicant’s noise consultants and the most up-todate noise report is dated 2 June 2021 Revision L.
12.6. Whilst the Apex Acoustics assessment is satisfactory, it did highlight in the
previous report that the night-time background sound level is 30 dB whilst the
calculated rating level of the CHP is 39 dB. A level of 9 dB above background

Page 28

sound level indicates a significant adverse impact. The development applied for
is therefore not acceptable without mitigation. Specifically controls would be
necessary on when the boilers can be used. For the daytime operation of the
CHP unit, the rating level of 5dB above background noise levels meets local
authority requirements.
12.7. The Parish Council have raised concerns regarding the tonal corrections that
have been applied to specific sound levels and the Apex consultants have
applied intermittency and an impulsive acoustic feature correction within the
report. However, concerns were still raised by the Parish Council that additional
correction should be applied to take account of a “hum” that has been heard
within the village. An independent Noise Consultant on behalf of the Council has
visited the site and was able to observe all plant operating which forms part of
this application. They have advised the Council that there was no clearly audible
“hum” from the operations considered under this current application and have
advised that there is no requirement for additional acoustic feature correction to
be applied in line with the Apex report.
12.8. A condition is necessary to limit the times. The applicant’s submitted report
suggests no operation between 20:00 hours and 06:00 hours every day. This
proposal appears to be based on the assertion that background noise levels are
high between 05:00 and 23:00. Officers question this assertion, evidencing that
such background levels are not constant nor repeated every day. Indeed, the
time period for operation should be limited to 07:00 to 18:00 to ensure that the
boilers do not operate when they generate unacceptably high increases over
background levels.
12.9. The Council’s Environmental Health officer advises the increase in flue height will
have a negligible impact on the noise emissions.
12.10. Wood chipping has previously been carried out at the site. The mechanical
chipper was noted to also result in unacceptably high noise levels at sensitive
residential receptors in the locality. It is understood that the chipping process
has been relocated off site but, nevertheless, given its intrinsic, ancillary
operation to the boilers’ use, it is necessary, relevant and reasonable to prohibit
this from happening within the holding. Therefore, with no chipping on the farm,
it is assumed that the boiler ready chips will be brought to site from further afield
to be dried and used.
12.11. With conditions in place limiting the hours of operation of the boilers, doors to
remain closed on the buildings that house the plant and prohibiting wood
chipping taking place, the proposal in terms of noise is considered acceptable
and in line with Policy S19 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1). It is also
necessary to ensure that the permission relates to the boilers proposed as the
assessment of noise is specific to their emissions.
Residential amenity – Air Quality/Smoke
12.12. Again both policies S19 and S32 of the adopted Local Plan Part 1 are relevant. In
relation to emissions, both boilers proposed to be retained are fitted with a

Page 29

cyclone filter to remove particulates to ensure they are not released into the flue
system and therefore there is no ash from the development. This is kept within
the boiler chamber and emptied on a regular basis from an ash bin.
12.13. The applicant has submitted a document called “On Site Processes” which
outlines the processes which are undertaken at Langrigg Farm in relation to the
CHP unit and Biomass Units:a) The logs are delivered to site and stored for approximately 1 month before
processing occurs.
b) Logs are stored and then chipped off site on a monthly cycle. Once
chipped the wood is moved into a barn adjacent to the CHP and biomass
units and stored until required.
c) Prior to use, the woodchips are tested on site using a moisture metre to
ensure they are sufficiently dry. In addition to on site testing the fuel is also
collected on a monthly basis and sent away for sampling, for quality
assurance compliance.
d) All feeding of the machines is automated in order to ensure maximum
efficiency of the units.
e) Once the collection point for the ash created by the fuel burning process is
full (approx. once per month) it is emptied and taken to Harrison’s at
Silloth where it is disposed of.
f) The machines are serviced and monitored daily by an employee.
12.14. The Syntegra air quality report ref 18-4275 dated July 2018 considers the
emissions of NOx and PM10 and PM2.5 from the biomass plant as well as
considering emissions of ammonia from the ILU (poultry houses). The report
states these are all within acceptable standards. The report takes a desk top
approach and states that operational parameters for the units were supplied by
FEC Energy Limited and not based on their own onsite operational testing. The
assessment methodology is accepted by the Council’s Environmental Health
officer and considered robust.
12.15. The main issues with the operation of the biomass plants is the creation of
smoke emissions if incorrect fuel is used within the plant and the fuel has the
wrong moisture content. There is clear evidence from residents, corroborated by
Council officers, that the use of the wrong fuel has resulted in unacceptably
adverse impacts on residential amenity in terms of smoke. It is also
acknowledged that, whilst lower flue heights can bring the development within
one of the permitted development criteria, such reduced heights can and have
resulted in issues of plume dispersal.
12.16. As such, it is necessary to require that only dried woodchip is used (adhering to
the processes detailed in point c) of paragraph 12.13 of this Report. This can be
secured by condition.
12.17. It is also necessary to ensure that development operates with the proposed flue
height increases.

Page 30

Design/Visual Impact
12.18. Policy S4 of the Local Plan Part 1 focuses on the need for high standards of
design and provides a series of criteria against which developments should be
assessed. These include a positive response to the character of the area, its
distinctiveness, history and need for integration with existing development. Such
considerations are also repeated in the landscape policy, S33.
12.19. The biomass and heat units have been installed within the confines of an existing
modern agricultural building to the southern part of the farm. However, due to
issues with smoke, the applicant has stated a requirement to increase the height
of the flues to mitigate the effects of such. The proposed height of the flues are
approx. 5.67m in height for boiler 2 and approx. 4.63m in height for boiler 1.
12.20. The flues will be viewed in the context of large farm buildings and against the
backdrop of the line of pylons. The farm itself is set in a slight depression and,
as a consequence, they will not be prominent in the landscape. They are
consistent with the scale of the buildings, and do not exert a harmful impact on
the character and appearance of the locality, in accordance with policies S4 and
S33.
Heritage Issues
12.21. The two storey farmhouse that lies to the northwest of the application site is a
Grade II Listed Building.
12.22. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
states, “in considering whether to grant planning permission for development
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the
case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or
historic interest which it possesses.”
12.23. The Listed Building lies to the northwest of the agricultural building at a distance
of approx. 90m. The Grade II Langrigg Hall dates from 1700s but has significant
high quality Georgian detailing. It is considered that most of its significance is
derived from this architectural quality and history but, nevertheless, the setting is
integral to this history and contributes, to a lesser degree, to the overall
significance.
12.24. In addition to the farmyard and surrounding farm buildings, it is considered the
important part of its setting is the farmland to the front of the house as this
provides significant views of the house, which was clearly orientated to be seen
as a show of relative wealth. The Listed Building has a separate vehicle access
from that which serves the existing farmstead. There are some existing trees
along the west boundary of the fence that provide some screening to the
building.
12.25. The CHP plant is located within an existing building and as such does not have
any additional impact upon the setting of the Hall. However, the proposal

Page 31

includes the 2 flues which will be seen within some views of the Hall. The
nearest flue to the Hall is approx. 80m away and will be seen in the context of
the modern farm buildings and partly screened by trees from main views of the
listed building. Further planting was approved under the earlier approval on the
site 2/2018/0098 for the agricultural building which would provide additional
screening.
12.26. The aluminium finish has the potential for the reflection of sunlight (or any other
lights). This has been discussed with the applicant and they have not proposed
the finish to be altered. However, having viewed the proposal at various times of
the year, officers do not consider the reflection is of a magnitude that the
prominence of the farmhouse in its setting is challenged. Taking into
consideration the issues discussed above officers are satisfied that the proposal
will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of the Grade II Listed
Building. This harm is outweighed by public benefits arising from the low carbon
power supplied to the dwellings and the national grid.
12.27. Considered against the duty contained within section 66 of the Listed Buildings
Act 1990, the setting of the listed building will be preserved and the proposal
accordant with policy S27 of the Local Plan Part 1 and paragraph 196 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.
Highway Issues
12.28. This issue is relevant to policies S2 and S22 of the Local Plan Part 1. The
applicant’s Planning Statement includes highway movements. In terms of fuel it
states it is delivered once a week in a lorry. Paper is delivered to site 4 times a
week at which point it is tipped into the storage area. The dry paper is then
taken off site to be baled and then returned to the farm until used.
12.29. The County Highways Authority have been consulted. The Highways Authority
have replied, “taking into account the existing use of the property and the
information submitted, it is considered that the proposal will be unlikely to have a
material effect on existing highway conditions. We can therefore confirm that the
Highway Authority has no objection to the proposal”.
12.30. Officers consider this to be a robust conclusion to be drawn; it is fully
acknowledged that Langrigg is served only by narrow highways with limited
possibilities for heavy goods vehicles to safely pass. However, this is a working
farmyard that includes an intensive livestock unit. Tractor and trailer movements
to and from the land and deliveries, including bulk feed, as well as collections
are relatively common. The level and nature of the movements associated with
the biomass boilers is such that they have no significant impact on the overall
number and character of trip rates associated with the site.
12.31. A condition has been advised as being necessary to ensure that woodchip loads
coming to the site are covered to prevent the load from dispersing and becoming
a hazard to highway users.

Page 32

12.32. The development is therefore considered acceptable from a highway safety
perspective and accords with policies S2 and S22 of the Local Plan Part 1.
Local Financial Considerations
12.33. Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will
not result in any local financial consideration.

13.

Balance and Conclusions

13.1. The principle of the development is supported by Policy S19 of the Local Plan
(Part 1) which seeks to promote and encourage the development of renewable
and low carbon energy resources given the significant wider environmental,
community and economic benefits. These benefits are afforded significant
weight in the overall balance.
13.2. The accordance with the development plan policies overall is dependent upon
the imposition of conditions. These relate to;a) The use only of dried woodchip as boiler fuel.
b) Restrictions on the times of the use of the boilers as set out in this report.
c) No on-site wood chipping.
d) The implementation of the increased height of the flues.
e) The use of boilers with the specification supplied.
f) When the CHP unit and Biomass unit in operation the background noise
level measured at the nearest residential property shall not exceed 5dB
above the background noise levels.
g) All doors shall remain close on the buildings which contains the plant and
machinery while in operation.
13.3. In the absence of such conditions, the adverse impacts on residential amenity
would be of a significance and extent that they would not be outweighed by the
benefits.
13.4. The setting of the listed building would be preserved.
RECOMMENDATION
Grant permission subject to conditions

Page 33

Annex 1
CONDITIONS
In Accordance:
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance
with the following plans
D.02 Site Plan
D.03 Location plan
D.01c Floor Plans & Elevations received 22.11.2019
Planning & Historic Statement received 07.04.2021
Noise Impact Assessment Revision L received 02.06.2021
Addendum to Noise Impact Assessment received 02.06.2021
Letter received 26.02.2020
On Site Processes received 10.03.2020
Location Plan – storage 18.02.2020
ref 18-4275 Air Quality Assessment
Boiler Data Sheet received 09.03.2020
Boiler Reference 18.02.2020
Commissioning Certificates
D1 Stack Height Assessment
Biomass Boiler Information
Emissions Certificates
Email received 09/03/2020
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations
to the scheme are properly considered and specifically to ensure there are not
unacceptable impacts on residential amenity to accord with the provisions of the
development plan and specifically policies S2 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan
(Part 1) 2014.

Other:
2.

The boilers shall not operate outside of the times 07:00hrs to 18:00hrs.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of nearby residents, in
compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 and S32
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.

3.

Neither boiler approved shall be used without the increase in the height of
the associated flue as hereby approved and as detailed within the plans
referred to in condition 1. The said flues shall be retained at this height
whilst the boiler to which they serve is in use.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of nearby residents, in
compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 and S32
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.

Page 34

4.

When the CHP Unit and the Biomass units are in operation the noise level
emitted at the boundary of the nearest residential properties shall not
exceed 5dB above background noise levels between the hours of 07.00hrs
to 18.00hrs.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of nearby residents, in
compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 and S32
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.

5.

No wood chipping shall be carried out at any time within the farm (defined
as the land within the blue line on the plan attached to this decision notice).
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity (noise emissions) of nearby
residents, in compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2,
S4 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.

6.

All operations associated with the use hereby approved, including the
drying of the woodchip, shall be undertaken in compliance with the
submitted document Ref 19.039 On Site Processes dated March 2020 and
received 10 March 2020.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of nearby residents, in
compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 and S32
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.

7.

The biomass boiler shall be operated using wood chip only.
Reason: Emissions from a biomass boiler depend greatly on the type and quality
of the fuel used. Reasonable guarantees are therefore needed that the fuel is
compatible with the boiler, is of a high quality and that quality will be assured for
a reasonable period of time, in the interests of preserving the amenity of nearby
residents, in compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2,
S4 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.

8.

The moisture content of the wood chip shall be 30% or less and shall be
tested on site using a moisture meter as well as monthly testing being
undertaken of wood chip samples.
Reason: Emissions from a biomass boiler depend greatly on the type and quality
of the fuel used. Reasonable guarantees are therefore needed that the fuel is
compatible with the boiler, is of a high quality and that quality will be assured for
a reasonable period of time, in the interests of preserving the amenity of nearby
residents, in compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2,
S4 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014

9.

Details of the monthly fuel sampling and fuel sampling process should be
recorded at the site and made available at all times upon request of
Allerdale Borough Council.

Page 35

Reason: Emissions from a biomass boiler depend greatly on the type and quality
of the fuel used. Reasonable guarantees are therefore needed that the fuel is
compatible with the boiler, is of a high quality and that quality will be assured for
a reasonable period of time in compliance with National Planning Policy
Framework and Policy S2, S4 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.
10.

All doors shall remain closed on the building which contains all plant and
machinery associated with the CHP unit at all times when in operation.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity of nearby residents, in
compliance with National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S4 and S32
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.

11.

Any vehicles delivering wood chip to the site shall be covered at all times.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 2014.

Page 36

Page 37

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 38

Agenda Item 6
Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application FUL/2020/0022
Development Panel Report
Reference Number:

FUL/2020/0022

Valid Date:

04/02/2020

Location:

Pow Motey Farm Adjacent to Langrigg Hall, Langrigg
Wigton

Applicant:

Mr Edwin Gate
Change of use of building for storage of woodchip
fuel for boilers associated with farm.

RECOMMENDATION
Grant permission subject to a condition
1.

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

Principle of Development

The use of the building supports
renewable methods, with no impact on the
wider community.

2.

Introduction

2.1

This application relates to the same site as application FUL/2019/0251 which is
also on the agenda for this meeting of the Development Panel.

3.

Proposal

3.1

This application seeks retrospective consent for the change of use from an
agricultural building to storage to house woodchip which is used to fuel the
boilers associated with the farm.

3.2

The Plans for consideration are:Location Plan
Block Plan

Page 39

The particulars are available to view via the following link:https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
223850

4.

Site

4.1

The application site is an existing building within an operational farmstead lying in
the village of Langrigg. The farmhouse is a Grade II Listed Building set back from
the highway within extensive grounds and enclosed by a sandstone wall. Existing
modern farm buildings lie to the northeast and extend forward to the southeast of
the farmhouse.

4.2

There is an intensive livestock unit (ILU) operating from modern farm buildings to
the northern part of the farm complex. There are a range of modern agricultural
buildings southeast of the farmhouse with the buildings in question lying to the
south of the site, the Listed Building to the northwest and dwellings in the village
to the southeast, south and west.

5.

Relevant Planning History

5.1

2/2018/0097 Change of use of farm buildings to biomass CHP unit with
associated chimneys (flues) (retrospective) – Refused.
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
179854

5.2

ENF/2019/00001 – Enforcement Notice served for the unauthorised use of the
building for the carrying out of operations associated with the commercial
processing activities relating to the CHP Unit and Biomass Units, and the
erection of the 3 external flues situated upon the building. – Notice Withdrawn.

5.3

FUL/2019/0251 Retrospective application for change of use of farm buildings to
house 1 x CHP and 1 x RHI unit and erection of associated chimneys (flues)
(increase in height of 2 no. chimneys). Heat 2 x properties not in association with
the farm and heat used to dry paper for animal bedding (approx. 10% removed) –
pending.
https://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=
218490

Page 40

6.

Representations
Bromfield Parish Council

6.1

Objection. As Bromfield Parish Council strongly object to FUL/2019/0251 and
these applications go hand in hand there will be no reason for this application
when FUL/2019/0251 is refused.
Cumbria County Highways/Lead Local Flood Authority

6.2

Taking into account the existing use of the property, it is considered that the
proposal will be unlikely to have a material effect on highway conditions.
Therefore confirm that the Highway Authority has no objection to the proposal.

6.3

The LLFA surface water map show flooding to the area and indicate 0.1% (1 in
1000) chance of occurring each year. No objection
ABC Environmental Health

6.4

No objections and no comment to make.
Other representations

6.5

The application has been advertised by site notice and neighbour letter. No
representations have been received to date.

7.

Environmental Impact Assessment

7.1

With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2017, the development does not fall within Schedule 1
nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA development.

8.

Duties

8.1

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
requires that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the
desirability of preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.

9.

Development Plan Policies
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014

9.1

The following policies are considered relevant:Policy S1 Presumption in Favour of Development
Policy S2 Sustainable Development

Page 41

Policy S19 Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Technologies
Policy S22 Transport principles
Policy S27 Heritage Assets
Policy S32 Safeguarding amenity
Policy S36 Air, Water and Soil Quality
These policies can be viewed at:https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/localplan-part-1/
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020
9.2

There are no relevant policies.

10.

Other material considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

10.1

The NPPF is available to view at:https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework-2
Allerdale Borough Council Strategy 2020-2030

10.2 A Cleaner Greener Allerdale - We recognise the significant climate issues facing
us all at present and as a council we have the power to change the way we
operate to reduce our carbon emissions and improve biodiversity, as well as
influencing local activities and behaviours through our policies.

11.

Policy weighting

11.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that,
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Borough Local Plan Part 1 (2014) and
Part 2 (2020) have primacy.
11.2 For this application, at this juncture, there are no material considerations
applicable that would result in a decision being made contrary to the
development plan.
12.

Assessment:

12.1

The use of the building ancillary to the boilers supports renewable development
as per Policy S19 of the Allerdale Local Plan which advises that the Council will

Page 42

take a positive view if proposals do not have an unacceptably adverse impact on
the amenity of local residents.
12.2

Part 6 of the amended Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 relates to “agricultural and forestry”. Whilst
these regulations would normally allow an existing building on a farmstead to be
used to store fuel to serve biomass boilers, this is not the case on this occasion
due to the proposed building being located within 400m of a dwelling not
associated with the farm.

12.3

The use involves no external alterations to the existing building, the application
purely seeks the change of use of the building so that, alongside the existing
agricultural use, the building can also be used for storage and drying of the
woodchips. The building is attached to the buildings which house the biomass
boilers and therefore provides for an efficient flow of operations that would not
interfere within any other existing operations on the farm.

12.4

The building is covered to prevent the re-wetting of the chip but there is also
natural ventilation and air flow to permit the drying. The storage and drying do not
produce any odours giving rise to unacceptable residential amenity impacts.
There are also no other amenity implications with this use.

12.5

Given the internal storage proposed in an existing building, there is no
landscape, visual amenity of heritage impact associated with the use. The setting
of the listed farmhouse will be preserved.

12.6 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will
not result in any material, local financial implications.

13.0

Balance and Conclusions

1.1.

The proposed use of the building to include the storage of fuel to serve the
biomass boilers is considered acceptable and accords with development plan
policies. It is acknowledged that it supports a renewable energy facility with no
amenity, landscape or heritage impact.
RECOMMENDATION
Grant permission subject to a condition

Page 43

Annex 1
CONDITIONS
In Accordance:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in
accordance with the following plans:
Site Plan
Block Plan
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

Page 44

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46

Agenda Item 7

Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application FUL/2020/0223
Development Panel Report
Reference Number:
Valid Date:
Location:
Applicant:
Proposal:

FUL/2020/0223
26/10/2020
Land Opposite The Willows, Lonsdale Place, Flimby,
Maryport, Cumbria, CA15 8TP
Mr M Kirkbride
Erection of agricultural storage building for the
housing of animals and horses

RECOMMENDATION
Refuse Permission
1.

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

Principle of Development

Policy DM6 of the Local Plan supports the
principle of the erection of stable buildings
in the open countryside subject to the
siting, scale, design and external materials
respecting and enhancing the rural
character of the local area.

Siting, Scale and Design

The scale and siting of this development is
considered inappropriate for this rural
location. The proposal would introduce an
incongruous form and scale of
development that would harmfully erode
the rural characteristics of the area
resulting in significant adverse impact
bringing the development in conflict with
Policies S4, S33 and DM6 of the Allerdale
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Amenity

Officers consider the proposed means to
dispose of the manure is acceptable in
principle and can be controlled via
condition so as not to have a detrimental
impact on the amenity of the nearby
property.

Page 47

2.

Introduction

2.1.

This site has been the subject of a number of previous planning applications and
an Enforcement Notice is in place for the site to seek the removal of the existing
unauthorised structures on site.

2.2.

A previous scheme on this site, ref 2/2018/0471, came before members in
January 2019 for the erection of buildings for the stabling of horses and storage.
The application was refused in accordance with officer’s recommendations on the
following grounds:
“The Local Planning Authority consider inadequate information has been
submitted to demonstrate the need for both the number of buildings proposed
and the scale of the development. The large scale nature of the large modern
agricultural style building becomes the dominant feature in this rural open
countryside location with particularly visibility from sensitive visual receptors on
public rights of way. It neither seeks to respect or enhance the rural character of
the area. The proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to policies S4, S33
and DM6 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.”

2.3.

Action was pursued by the Council and an Enforcement Notice was served.

2.4.

The applicant appealed both the refused planning permission and the
enforcement notice and the appeals were dismissed and the enforcement notice
upheld. The time for compliance with the notice has lapsed. However, an
ecological survey by a qualified ecologist has been submitted to the Council that
shows bats are potentially roosting in the large modern agricultural building.
Given this an additional survey needs to be carried out at the optimal time of the
year which is between April – September, the Council has not pursued a
prosecution against the failure to comply with the Enforcement Notice as this
juncture. The agent has advised that the survey is to be carried out this summer.

3.

Proposal

3.1.

The current application seeks permission for a revised scheme on the site in the
form of the erection of an agricultural storage building for the housing of sheep,
cattle and horses. It is important for members to understand that this is different
to the structures the subject of the Enforcement Notice and also different to the
approved scheme.

3.2.

The application seeks permission for the relocation of the existing unauthorised
modern agricultural building and the reduction in its overall height by 2m. This
building as proposed would be 12m x 6m with an eaves and a ridge height of 2m
and 3.4m respectively. Adjacent to the proposed building is a yard area enclosed
by 1m high concrete panels. The yard area measures 12m x 12m.

Page 48

3.3.

The Plans for consideration are:Site Location Plan (Amendment received 8 June 2021)
Block Plan (amendment received 8 June 2021)
PB4a Proposed Elevations (amendment received 20 May 2021)
Land Owned and rented plan received 20 May 2021
Additional Information received 29 April 2021
Design and Access Statement received 29 April 2021
The particulars are available to view via the following link:https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planningapplication/a3X3X000004DNqmUAG/ful20200223

4.

Site

4.1.

The application site forms an irregular shaped field located in an area of open
countryside to the east of Pennygill Road which leads north-eastwards out of the
village of Flimby. A dwelling lies to the northwest of the field with a public right of
way (PROW) running along the north boundary. This splits into two rights of way
to the northeast. Flimby Great Wood (Ancient Woodland) is directly to the east
both public rights of ways striking eastwards through it.

4.2.

The surrounding landscape is characterised by a patchwork of large open and
regular shaped pasture fields, bound by mature hedgerows and set against a
backdrop of occasional clusters and bands of native woodland. The land rises up
from the West Cumbrian coastline to form a series of exposed ridges and valleys
that rise gently towards the limestone fringes of the Lakeland Fells to the east.
The result being an attractive and largely undeveloped rural landscape
interrupted only occasionally by single or small clusters of dwellings and
farmsteads.

5.

Relevant Planning History

5.1.

Planning permission was granted under 2/2015/0599 for a timber stables building
that measured 9m in length x 4.4m in with a height to eaves of 3m, 3.8m to ridge
within the application site. The building was to be located to the front of the site.

5.2.

A further application 2/2018/0471 sought retrospective planning permission for
the retention of a modern agricultural style building to be used to house horses
and the erection of a further stable/storage building. Planning permission was
refused and enforcement action taken to seek their removal.

5.3.

The applicant appealed both the refusal of the planning permission 2/2018/0471
and the appeals were dismissed and the Enforcement Notice upheld.

Page 49

6.

Representations
Maryport Town Council

6.1.

Concerns with the proposals for the location, size and usage of the proposed
building. Allerdale are requested to arrange a Development Panel site visit with
attendance from Town Council ward members.
ABC Environmental Health

6.2.

No comment or objection to this proposal.
Cumbria County Highways

6.3.

The proposed building will be located off an un-adopted road, therefore,
providing that the stables will be for personal use only and not commercial, the
Highway Authority have no objections.
Public Rights Of Way Officer

6.4.

Public Footpath 244024 follows an alignment to the north of the side of the
proposed development and must not be altered or obstructed before or after the
development has been completed. If the footpath is to be temporarily obstructed
then a formal temporary closure will be required.
Cumbria Butterfly

6.5.

No reply to date.
Other representations

6.6.

The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour
letter.

6.7.

1 letter of objection has been received that considers the large scale nature of
the modern building becomes a dominant feature in this rural open countryside
location and particularly visible from sensitive visual receptors on public right of
way.

7.

Environmental Impact Assessment

7.1.

With regards to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2017, the development does not fall within Schedule 1
nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA development.

Page 50

8.

Development Plan Policies
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014

8.1

The following policies are considered relevant:S1 Presumption in Favour of Development
S2 Sustainable Development
S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth
S4 Design Principles
S14 Rural Economy
S29 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
S32 Safeguarding amenity
S33 Landscape
DM6 Equestrian and agricultural buildings
DM17 Trees, hedgerows and woodland
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2)

8.2

The site is within the countryside oustide the defined settlement boundaries
(policy SA2).

9.

Other material considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

9.1

Paragraph 212 states that the policies in this Framework are material
considerations which should be taken into account in dealing with applications
from the day of its publication. Paragraph 213 states that due weight should be
given to development plan policies according to their degree of consistency with
this Framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).

10.

Policy weighting

10.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that,
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy.
10.2 The relevant development policies for this proposal are considered to have a
high degree of consistency with the NPPF and full weight is afforded to them. For
this proposal, at this juncture, there are no material considerations which would
result in a decision not being made in affordance with the development plan.

Page 51

11.

Assessment:
Principle of development

11.1. Policy DM6 supports proposals for stables/equestrian activities in the countryside
where new development is, where possible, closely related to existing farm
buildings or other groups of buildings. If not possible, development should be
designed and sited to minimise impact on the landscape setting.
11.2. Policies S4 and S33, seek to secure and support development of high quality
design that will protect, conserve and where possible, enhance the landscape
character and local distinctiveness.
11.3. Therefore in considering whether the principle of a building is acceptable
members need to consider its siting, design, scale and resultant effect on the
character and appearance of the surrounding countryside. The setting on the
slope adjacent to ancient woodland and sensitive receptors (unobstructed views
from the public right of way to the north) are of particular relevance in this
assessment. Of relevance too is that the baseline against which the proposal is
considered is not how the site appears in the landscape today (the development
is unauthorised) but rather what it looked like before (acknowledging that the
Council granted permission for some development on the land).
11.4

Members are advised that nowhere in policy DM6 is there a requirement for a
need to be justified. However, given the sensitivities of countryside locations in
visual and landscape impact terms including this one, it is reasonable when
assessing proposals against policy DM6 to establish the need driving the
proposal. Supporting paragraph 350 to policy DM6 recognises that equestrian
and agricultural developments often require a countryside location. That is not in
doubt. However, the same paragraph continues by noting that new buildings can
individually or cumulatively have an adverse impact on the rural character and
environmental quality of the area.

11.5

An evidenced need could be a consideration that weighs in support of such a
development when considering landscape and visual impact. This could be about
scale and/or location e.g. a building needs to be of a certain size to
accommodate specific machinery or a certain size of flock/herd and needs to be
in a location close to a specific access or, say, a water supply.

11.6

However if, say, a structure is being proposed with no evidenced need for its
scale and location and, it’s in a sensitive location with harmful landscape and
visual impact, then one could reasonably resist it and challenge why a smaller
structure and/or different location could not be proposed to materially lessen the
impact. These matters and balance are relevant for members’ consideration of
this proposal although just because a need has been evidenced for a building
and location still not does mean it is acceptable; the landscape and visual impact
could still be such that a refusal is justified.

Page 52

11.7

The applicant has provided the following information in relation the need: a) The applicant owns 70 sheep with the building used for both accommodation
and for lambing (20 lambing in the building at any one time). The sheep lamb
inside and last year were lambed down at the neighbouring farm. An
increase in stock at the farm means that they can no longer accommodate
the lambing of the applicant’s sheep.
b) 2 calves are purchased each year that he takes to store level then sells.
c) 4 horses are in the building of which 1 is in foal and 1 has a foal at foot. The
horses are owned by the applicant and he breeds and sells the foals.
d) The applicant owns 0.64ha of land.
e) A further 5.6ha of the surrounding land are rented out on an informal rent
from the neighbouring farmer, therefore no tenancy agreement.
f) The enclosed yard area with concrete panels allows the applicant to leave
the door open so the animals can be indoors or outdoors, while still in a
secure and contained environment.
g) The livestock is sold through the farm and therefore there is no separate
financial information.

11.8

The use of the site has significantly altered from that considered and approved
under application 2/2015/0599 from a modest stable building that could only
accommodate 2 horses for personal use to a small holding with commercial
breeding of the horses. The Council instructed ADAS to undertake an
independent peer review on the submitted information in relation to the need for
the building. The findings include:
a) Building Size and Impact. Although the overall height of the building is
being lowered, the proposed building would still represent an 82%
increase in the footprint of the original approved footprint. They highlight
significant concerns due to this increase in size and therefore impact on
the open countryside, especially considering that the applicant has not
appeared to justify the increase in size compared to the proposal in the
original application.
b) Annual Rents. Whilst it is acknowledged that the main yard and
immediate land amounting to 0.64 hectares are owned by the applicant, a
further 5.67 hectares are rented on the basis of an annual agreement.
ADAS highlight that there is no guarantee that this arrangement will
continue.
c) Building upon this, it is noted that various social and economic pressures
will influence land owners and the use of their land, particularly when
considering the potential of new land management opportunities that have
arisen following the UK leaving the EU. The goodwill on which this
agreement is based may very well expire, with the tenure having the
potential to be more complex, rather than simply relying on a gentleman’s
agreement.

Page 53

d) When factoring this into this proposal it is noted that, if this annual tenancy
was lost, the holding would be substantially reduced; the grazing capacity
of the farm would be totally constrained and, therefore, the stocking levels
could not be maintained. Overall, the sustainability of the holding would be
affected and the space requirements for the animals would potentially be
reduced down to that typical of stabling for privately owned horses.
e) Grazing Livestock. The maximum capacity for a good quality grass lay,
with adequate fertiliser and rainfall would support 10-12 ewes and lambs
per hectare (SAC/2019/20). The grassland states would support 70 ewes
and lambs if adequately fertilised. Horses require approximately 0.5 ha per
animal, and therefore there would need to be some imported forage to
maintain all of the stated livestock.
f) It should be noted ADAS have not completed a site visit, but have used
prelimary investigations using satellite imagery. In August 2020 when the
ewes should have been rearing the later lambs, there were a few signs of
ewes on the rented land perhaps 16-17 ewes. Given that the area of
grassland would be at its maximum capacity, ADAS would like to be
informed where the seventy ewes, perhaps similar numbers of lambs, and
four horses are grazing during the summer. It would be highly unusual to
remove grazing livestock during these summer periods when grass is
exhibiting maximum growth.
g) Justification for the Buildings. ADAS would note that it is hard to justify
this building in a business capacity. Whilst strictly not mandatory, no
financial figures supplied to assess whether the building justifies the cost.
On average, 70 ewes would produce a gross margin (before overheads)
of £3,780 (£54/ewe av. Performance J.Nix 2021). There is no indication of
flock performance from the applicant, but 18 geld ewes (25%) is five times
higher than the national average (5%). Similarly rearing two calves would
give a gross margin of approximately £110 in total.
h) It is acknowledged that the Local Planning Policy allows for and supports
the expansion and development of rural businesses, but ADAS would be
of the opinion that, from the information presented, this is not a business,
and the livestock are marketed through “the farm” which is presumably
linked in some way to the applicant.
11.9

The ADAS report concludes that this appears to be a hobby for the applicant,
with no security of tenure, a poorly performing sheep flock and no financial or
physical records to support the application for this larger building. As a direct
result of this, ADAS would be of the opinion that the building is not justified, and
that this proposal does not constitute a viable or sustainable rural business
development in the open countryside.

11.10 A site visit carried out by officers on the 14 June 2021 noted that there were no
sheep or lambs grazing on the field. The grass was also over grown which lead
officers to believe there has been no recent livestock grazing on the adjacent

Page 54

fields. This would question whether the stated livestock levels provided by the
applicant is true and further questions the need for a building of this size.
Landscape and Visual Impact
11.11 Policies S4 and S33 are particularly relevant in addition to DM6. The site lies
within Sub type 5a Ridges and Valleys as designated in the Cumbria Landscape
Character Guidance. Key characteristics of this area are: a) A series of ridges and valleys that rises gently toward the limestone fringes
of the Lakeland Fells.
b) Well managed regular shaped medium to large pasture fields.
c) Hedge bound pasture fields dominate, interspersed with native woodland,
tree clumps and plantations.
d) Scattered farms and linear villages found along ridges.
e) Large scale structures generally scarce.
11.12 The site, before development, consisted of a rectangular undeveloped pasture
field bound by post and wire fencing and set against a woodland backdrop. It is
clear that the pre-developed site conditions made a positive contribution to the
attractive rural character of the surrounding area, this contribution being clearly
visible from the Public Right of Way which runs along the length of the northern
boundary of the site. The enjoyment of users of the public right of way to the
northwest, north and then northeast is sensitive to development on the site
adjacent to its route. This is a public right of way from a populated area (Flimby)
into the countryside and, specifically, into ancient woodland. The walks along the
public rights of way in the woodland and the approach to it from the single public
right of way was, prior to the unauthorised development, a high value sequence
of visual experiences (unobstructed views to and from within the woodland)
across undeveloped countryside.
11.14 Therefore impact needs to be seen in the context that the landscape is one of
high sensitivity (ancient woodland and open slopes to it) and sensitive receptors
(the public rights of way).
11.15 The building is to be enclosed by concrete panels to a height of 1m. These are
not characteristic of the prevailing landscape character and, given the height
which would be above the hedging, would be incongruous, significant intrusions
into the landscape and result in a high degree of harm. The adverse visual
impact from the public right of way receptors would be high.
11.16 Whilst stable buildings and equestrian facilities are not uncommon features within
a rural context, officers consider the proposal is poorly sited within an open
countryside setting, away from any other groupings of buildings, and thereby
resulting in a highly visible and stark feature that is at odds with the surrounding
landscape character. The massing and harsh concrete panelling compound the
impact of the siting. The combination results in a high level of landscape harm
and visual impact.

Page 55

11.17 There is no evidence for the scale of the building proposed or its siting which
could be weighed against this impact. The balance is, therefore, in officers’
minds, firmly tilted to resisting the proposal due to its conflict with policies S4,
S33 and DM6 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.
Amenity Issues
11.18 The applicant is proposing, in line with the 2015 application, that manure/waste
will be stored on a trailer parked at the side of the building and once this is full
taken away by the farm for spreading on the land. Whilst officers do not oppose
the manner of storage and removal from the site it is considered that the position
of the storage needs to be agreed and that it should be removed on a more
regular basis. This can be controlled via condition.
Access
11.19 The existing access to the field from Pennygill Road along the Bridleway will be
utilised. The applicant has land either to the front of the gate or within the field to
provided space for parking vehicles. The Highways Authority have considered
the proposal and providing the stables are for personal use only and not
commercial they raise no objection to the proposal
Local Financial Considerations
11.20 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal has
no local financial considerations.

12.

Conclusions

12.1. The principle of a stable on this site is supported by Policy DM6 of the Local Plan
(Part 1), with officers previously considering this to be appropriate under
application 2/2015/0599.
12.2. Whilst stable buildings and equestrian facilities are not uncommon features within
a rural context, officers consider the proposal is poorly sited within an open
countryside setting, away from any other groupings of buildings, and thereby
resulting in a highly visible and stark feature that is at odds with the surrounding
landscape character. The massing and harsh concrete panelling compound the
impact of the siting. The combination results in a high level of landscape harm
and visual impact. There is no evidence for the scale of the building proposed or
its siting which could be weighed against this impact. The balance is, therefore,
in officers’ minds, firmly tilted to resisting the proposal due to its conflict with
policies S4, S33 and DM6 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July
2014.
12.3

There is accordance with other development plan policies, for example S32 in
relation to residential amenity (with suitable conditions applied). However, the
degree of conflict with policies S4, S33 and DM6 is such that, on balance, the
proposal should be refused.

Page 56

RECOMMENDATION
REFUSE PERMISION
Reason
1. This open countryside setting to the ancient woodland is a landscape sensitive to
change. There are also sensitive visual receptors in the form of the public rights
of way which provide views of this landscape and the site. The modern building
by reasons of its scale, siting and external materials and finish will become the
dominant, incongruous feature in this rural open countryside location with
particularly visibility from the public rights of way. It neither seeks to respect nor
enhances the rural character of the area and there is a significant and overriding
harm to the landscape and a high degree of adverse visual impact. The proposal
is therefore considered to be contrary to Policy S4, S14, S33 and DM6 of the
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

.

Page 57

Page 58

Agenda Item 8
Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application VAR/2020/0507
Development Panel Report
Reference Number:
Valid Date:
Location:
Applicant:
Proposal:

VAR/2020/0507
21st December 2020
Dovenby Hall Estate, Dovenby, Cockermouth,
Cumbria, CA13 0PH
M Sport Ltd
Section 73 application for removal of condition 16
from planning permission 2/2014/0350 for the
demolition of up to seven buildings including School
House, Hodgson House and Howard House. Full
planning application for M Sport Evaluation Centre
(B1), testing and evaluation facility (2.5km in length)
(Sui Generis), car parking (242 spaces), earthworks
including sound attenuation bunds, surface water
attenuation ponds, grounds maintenance shed
incorporating fuel store (B1 & B8) and separate
underground fuel tank. Temporary widening of
eastern access from A594 for construction vehicles.
Outline planning application for future expansion
space of 5000sqm (use class B1), Offices 2450sqm
(B1), 60 bed Hotel 6000sqm (C1) all to include
associated parking and external works.

RECOMMENDATION
Delegate to the Planning and Building Control Manager the granting of
permission subject to conditions upon the signing of a Deed of Variation to tie
the existing s106 legal agreement to this permission.

UPDATE
This application was due to be considered by the Development Panel in March 2021 but
at the request of the applicant, the decision was deferred. The applicant had indicated
that they had some concerns with the Council’s approach to drafting the recommended
decision. However, the applicant has not progressed with these concerns and they have
been made aware that the application is being put forward for the July Development
Panel as originally drafted.
Officers had sought appropriate legal advice to the approach taken, prior to the March
Development Panel. Below is the original report from March 2021.

Page 59

1.

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

Highway works

The Highways Authority has advised that
the highways works secured by condition
16 are not necessary for that part of the
development secured by the extant full
planning permission for the test track and
evaluation centre and associated works.

2
2.1

Proposal
An application has been submitted under section 73 of the Town and Country
Planning Act as amended, to undertake the development without compliance
with condition 16 of planning permission 2/2014/0350. Application 2/2014/0350
secured planning permission for the following description of development:
‘Demolition of up to seven buildings including School House, Hodgson
House and Howard House. Full planning application for M Sport
Evaluation Centre (B1), testing and evaluation facility (2.5km in length)
(Sui Generis), car parking (242 spaces), earthworks including sound
attenuation bunds, surface water attenuation ponds, grounds maintenance
shed incorporating fuel store (B1 & B8) and separate underground fuel
tank. Temporary widening of eastern access from A594 for construction
vehicles. Outline planning application for future expansion space of
5000sqm (use class B1), Offices 2450sqm (B1), 60 bed Hotel 6000sqm
(C1) all to include associated parking and external works’.

2.2

Condition 16 of that permission states:
‘Prior to the occupation of the evaluation centre building the refuge
island/footways at the A594/C2038 junction, two 'request bus stops' to the
north and south of the A594 carriageway, and the footway along the A594
west of Orchard House to Main Street junction, as shown on the approved
plans, shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety’.

2.3

The highway works referenced within condition 16 were shown on drawings
C002 – Proposed A594 Footway and C003 – Proposed pedestrian refuge island
and footway on A594 at M Sport access junction, appended to the Transport
Assessment provided for application 2/2014/0350.

2.4

The refuge island and footway are inter-related to the provision of the request
bus stops, which were intended to be located adjacent to the existing site
entrance for Dovenby Hall, to both sides of the carriageway. The refuge island
was proposed to the existing red hatched area that lies within the highway
between the right turn lane to Bridekirk and the right turn lane into Dovenby Hall.

Page 60

The footway would be to the opposite site of the carriageway at the junction with
the Bridekirk road, which is presently a grassed verge only. The works would
assist pedestrians in crossing the road and accessing the request bus stop on
the northern side of the carriageway.
2.5

The footway extension would be further along the A594 and to the west of
Orchard House, approaching the junction leading into Dovenby village. Opposite
The Ship Public House, the existing footpath narrows down and eventually there
is no footpath to the eastern side of the junction into the village.

2.6

This application seek the removal of condition 16 only. The development subject
to full planning permission has already lawfully commenced on site and the
Council has considered and approved a number of applications to discharge
conditions relevant to that full planning permission, where necessary. The
principle of the development is not therefore for consideration here, only whether
condition 16 should be removed or not.

2.7

A section 73 application cannot extend the time period for the implementation of
a planning permission. As the development subject to the full planning
permission has already lawfully commenced, no issue arises in relation to
timescales for that part of the development.

2.8

However, the timescales for the submission of an application for the approval of
the reserved matters for that part of the development secured under an outline
approval, have already lapsed, with no application having been made. Therefore,
that part of the development subject to outline approval, can no longer be
implemented under the existing permission. Should Members of the
Development Panel decide to approve this current application, although the
description of the development and the decision notice would continue to
reference that part of the development subject to outline planning approval, the
amended timescales for that element of the scheme would essentially reflect the
original permission, which would mean that it had effectively lapsed.

2.9

Should Members be minded to approve the current application, Officers have
revised the conditions of the original permission where they relate to the
development subject of the full planning permission, to include the removal of
condition 16 and the revised timescales for implementation, and to reflect where
details have already been submitted and approved as part of the discharge of
conditions process.

3

Site

3.1

The site is the Dovenby Hall Estate, located to the east of the village of Dovenby.
Dovenby Hall is a Grade II listed building and the Estate is in commercial use,
principally by M Sport Ltd. The test track facility subject of planning permission
2/2014/0350 is largely complete and it is understood that the associated
evaluation centre is nearing completion.

Page 61

4

Relevant Planning History

4.1

The relevant planning history relates primarily to application 2/2014/0350, the
description of which is outlined above, as well as a series of applications to
discharge conditions attached to that permission (as detailed below). The original
permission was subject to a non-material amendment that clarified the noise
control measures required by any Noise Management Plan for the site (ref.
AM/2014/0350).
a) CON1/2014/0350 - Compliance with conditions 5, 8, 17, 18 & 19 of planning
approval 2/2014/0350. Approved.
b) CON2/2014/0350 - Compliance with conditions 13 & 21 on planning approval.
Approved.
c) CON3/2014/0350 – Compliance with condition 22 of planning approval
2/2014/0350. Approved.
d) CON4/2014/0350 - Compliance with condition 6 as amended under planning
approval AM/2014/0350 relating to noise. Approved.
e) CON5/2014/0350 - Application for approval of conditions 4, 10, 11 and 12 of
application 2/2014/0350. Approved.

4.2

There are two pending applications relating to the site:
a) ADD/2020/0001 - Submission of further details requiring approval in
accordance with the provisions of Noise Management Plan Issue 3b
(approved under condition 6 of planning permission 2/2014/0350).
b) FUL/2021/0050 - Development of ground mounted solar pv system and
ancillary infrastructure, to provide power to on site buildings.

5

Representations
Bridekirk and Dovenby Parish Council

5.1

Object. The conditions were accepted by the applicant and were meant to benefit
the local community. As such, it is considered that they should be honoured.
Broughton Moor Parish Council

5.2

Comments withdrawn.
Broughton Parish Council

5.3

No comments received.
Dearham Parish Council

Page 62

5.4

No comments received.
CCC Minerals

5.5

No objection.
CCC Highways

5.6

No objections.

5.7

First response – The Highways Authority found that the works to the west of
Orchard House would not comply with our normal standards for footways. It
would require the narrowing of the A594 in close proximity to two junctions and
would also only allow for a 1.2m footway. Although this width would conform to
minimum standards for footway widths this would have an unacceptable impact
on highway safety (especially if this footway is located where the road is
narrowed).

5.8

It is also noted by the Highways Authority that the current footway from M-Sport
does lead to the bus stops, and that drop kerbs are in place. This is acceptable.

5.9

Finally, the Highways Authority express some concerns with the pedestrian
island mentioned in the condition. This will lead pedestrians to a “stand alone”
footway not connecting to any pedestrian facility. It will therefore create a
potential safety concern (vehicles striking the island) whilst not providing a safe
route for pedestrians to the nearest attractors.

5.10 Second response – having been advised of the alternative option for a footpath
suggested by a member of the public, running to the rear of the stone wall
(opposite The Ship) across the village green, the Highways Authority officer has
advised that, whilst this a better solution, it is over third party land and points out
that the conditions contained in the consent were for a development much bigger
that the development currently in place and therefore with valid planning
permission. The potential use by MSport users will therefore be considerably less
than assumed in the original application. Therefore the alternative, whilst
considered to be a good scheme, is not justified and reasonable in relation to the
development.
Fire Service
5.11

No objections.
Environmental Health

5.12

No comments received.

Page 63

Other representations
5.13 The application, has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour
letter. Six representations have been received to date raising objection to the
removal of condition 16, which are summarised as follows:
A. Object to the removal of recessed bus stops and safe waiting areas, may
dissuade future users and buses would have to obstruct the main road.
B. Allerdale should encourage the safe use of public transport as an
environmental improvement.
C. This is the only condition that would give some benefits to the community,
with much safer conditions of road usage to pedestrians. What is the
justification?
D. If the bus stops are required in the future, the cost would fall on the
County Council.
E. Refuge island and footpath at junction of A594/C2038 would be of benefit
to wider Dovenby community as it is one of the few walking routes out of
the village. Could encourage traffic calming and reduce dangerous
overtaking manoeuvres.
F. Existing footpath opposite The Ship PH is dangerous. This is the
opportunity to improve the situation. CCC Officer has limited his choice to
narrowing the footway or the road, but the footpath could run behind the
wall along the village Green side, removing the footpath from the road
side and allowing the space around the bus stop.
G. Necessary to decarbonise our lifestyles.
H. Concerns over presentation of information on the Council’s website and
lack of clarity as to whether emails provided by officers of CCC
accompanying the application are in a formal capacity.
5.14 One letter of support has been received, referencing the originally approved
development and does not specifically reference condition 16.

6

Environmental Impact Assessment

6.1

The original application 2/2014/0350 was considered to be Schedule 2
development requiring environmental assessment and an Environmental
Statement accompanied the planning application. The current application is
considered to be a subsequent application with regards to the EIA Regulations
2017, Part 3 (9). For completeness, the original Environmental Statement has
been transferred over to this application also. It is officers’ opinion that this
information remains adequate and the current proposal to remove condition 16
only does not require further environmental information to be submitted. The
potential environmental impacts arising from the removal of condition 16 only
would be localised in nature and would not be significant in environmental terms.
Traffic and Transportation issues were not identified in the scoping opinion
issued by the Council as issues triggering EIA assessment and the current
proposal is not considered to change that position.

Page 64

7

Duties

7.1

A number of duties were considered relevant to the original planning permission,
(Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010). These duties
are not considered relevant to the removal of condition 16 but nevertheless, as a
standalone application under s73 of the Act, are considered again.

8.

Development Plan Policies
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

8.1

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S12 - Land and Premises
Policy S14 - Rural economy
Policy S16 - Town centres and retail
Policy S17 - Tourism, Coastal and Countryside Recreation
Policy S21 - Developer contributions
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S24 - Green infrastructure
Policy S25 - Sports, Leisure and Open Space
Policy S27 - Heritage Assets
Policy S28 - Hadrian's Wall World Heritage Site
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity,
Policy S36 - Air, water and soil quality
Policy DM4 - Expansion and intensification of employment sites,
Policy DM8 - Protecting Town Centre Vitality and Viability,
Policy DM12 - Sustainable Construction
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM17 - Trees, hedgerows and woodland,
The following policies are considered to be most relevant to the consideration to
remove condition 16;Policy S1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 – Sustainable development principles
Policy S4 – Design principles
Policy S5 – Development principles
Policy S22 – Transport Principles
Policy S32 – Safeguarding Amenity

Page 65

These policies can be found here;https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/localplan-part-1/

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2)
8.2

Policy SA52 - Protecting and Creating Green Infrastructure
The Plan (Part 2) can be found here;https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/

9.

Other material considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

9.1

Paragraph 213 advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can
vary according to their degree consistency with the framework (the closer the
policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that
may be given).

9.2

Paragraph 212 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 advises
that policies in that Framework are material consideration which should be taken
into account in dealing with the applications from the day of its publication.

9.3

Paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 advises
that development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

9.4

Paragraph 110 (a) advises that within new development, give priority first to
pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and with neighbouring
areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating access to high quality
public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or other
public transport services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public
transport use.

9.5

The NPPF is available to view at:https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework-2

10.

Policy weighting

10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that,
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be

Page 66

made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and Allerdale
Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. Full weight is afforded to the
relevant development plan policies as they are considered consistent with the
NPPF.
10.2 A consideration afforded some weight is the existence of the original permission
and its conditions.
11.

Assessment
Introduction

11.1 Section 73(2) of the 1990 Act states that “the local planning authority shall
consider only the question of the conditions subject to which planning permission
should be granted.”
11.2 The options open to this Authority are:A.

If it is decided that permission should be granted subject to different
conditions to those previously imposed or it should be granted
unconditionally, then permission should be granted accordingly.

B.

If it is decided that permission should be granted subject to the same
conditions as previously imposed, then the s73 application should be
refused.

11.3 The principle of the development itself is not in question.
11.4 Where an application under section 73 is granted, the effect is the issue of a new
planning permission, sitting alongside the original permission, which remains
intact and unamended. Given that a new permission is being considered, then
the determination must be made in the context of current development plan
policies and material considerations.

Highways Matters
11.5 Condition 16 of the original planning permission required the implementation of a
number of off-site highways measures, the trigger point for these measures to be
put in place being the occupation of the evaluation centre. These measures were
originally requested by the Highways Authority and related to the whole
development secured by planning permission 2/2014/0350 (including a testing
and evaluation facility, future expansion space of 5000sqm, Offices 2450sqm,
and 60 bed Hotel 6000sqm).
11.6 As indicated above, the elements of the development subject to full planning
permission have been lawfully implemented (primarily the test track and
evaluation centre), albeit they are not yet operational. However, no reserved

Page 67

matters application has been made for the outline elements of the original
permission (principally the future expansion space of 5000sqm, Offices 2450sqm,
and 60 bed Hotel 6000sqm) and therefore these elements of the development
have time expired and can no longer be lawfully implemented. This constitutes a
change in circumstances which needs to be borne in mind when considering the
current application to remove condition 16.
11.8 The inclusion of a condition on any planning permission requires consideration of
the six tests – whether it is necessary; relevant to planning; relevant to the
development to be permitted; enforceable; precise; and reasonable in all other
respects. In considering whether a condition should be removed, these tests
remain relevant considerations. Is the condition sought for removal still necessary
and reasonably required to make the development acceptable?
Request bus stops, refuge island and footway at junction with the Bridekirk
road:
11.9 Condition 16 secures request bus stops, and a refuge island and footway interrelated to the provision of those request bus stops, which were intended to be
located adjacent to the existing site entrance for Dovenby Hall, to both sides of
the carriageway. The refuge island was proposed to the existing red hatched
area that lies within the highway between the right turn lane to Bridekirk and the
right turn lane into Dovenby Hall. The footway would be to the opposite site of the
carriageway at the junction with the Bridekirk road, which is presently a grassed
verge only. The works would assist pedestrians in crossing the road and
accessing the request bus stop on the northern side of the carriageway.
11.10 The entrance to the Dovenby Hall Estate is located approx. 200m from the
existing bus stops that serve the Dovenby village on the A594. The now
constructed evaluation centre would be located approx. 185m from this site
entrance, within the Dovenby Hall site. As such, future employees of the newly
constructed evaluation centre and test track would be able to access the existing
bus stops at a distance of less than 400m in total. The Transport Assessment
prepared for recent application FUL/2021/0009 included data published in
Logistics and Transport Focus, March 2018, which showed that the average
distance people walk to a bus stop is 580m and the 85th percentile distance is
810m. This data was used to conclude within that Transport Assessment that, at
580m, there is a good prospect people will walk to a stop, while 810m is the
catchment of a bus stop for most people. At less than 400m, the existing bus
stops on the A594 are considered to be a reasonable walking distance for future
employees of the evaluation centre and test track facility and any visitors to it. As
indicated by the Highways Officer, there are suitable pedestrian facilities in place
connecting the site to these existing bus stops. As such, it is considered that the
loss of the request bus stops secured by this condition would not significantly
reduce the sustainability of the test track and evaluation centre development in
terms of the ability of future employees and visitors to access public transport.
This is on the basis that existing facilities are located within reasonable walking
distance. Nor would the loss of the request bus stops or associated works result
in the development having a severe impact on highway safety, on the basis that

Page 68

the existing bus stops are connected to the site by adequate pedestrian
footpaths.
11.11 It is understood that the refuge island and footway at the junction with the
Bridekirk road, were measures to secure safe facilities for these request bus
stops. As it is considered that the securing of these request bus stops is not
essential to the delivery of the full element of the original scheme (the evaluation
centre and test track facility), then the loss of the Refuge Island and footway at
the junction with the Bridekirk road should equally be acceptable. Officers share
the safety concerns expressed by the Highways officer in relation to the refuge
island within the carriageway at this location given the speeds of passing
vehicles.
Extension of footway along the A594 west of Orchard House to Main Street
junction:
11.12 The footway extension would be further along the A594 and to the west of
Orchard House, approaching the junction leading into Dovenby village. Opposite
The Ship Public House, the existing footpath narrows down and eventually there
is no footpath to the eastern side of the junction into the village.
11.13 There is the potential for the evaluation centre and test track to generate some
movements by foot that would utilise this route. This is likely to be employees
accessing The Ship Inn PH and any future employees who may reside in
Dovenby itself. There are no other facilities within the village that are likely to
draw pedestrian movements to/from the evaluation centre and test track. The
advice from the Highways Authority is that the level of pedestrian movements
associated with the evaluation centre and test track along this route is not of a
level sufficient to necessitate the extending of this footway. Concerns are also
raised with the ability to deliver a safe footpath given the width of the
carriageway. Whilst it is noted that a member of the public has recommended an
alternative routing of the path, as the level of pedestrian activity along this section
of the highway as a direct result of the implemented part of the development is
not considered to be significant, and does not justify an extension of the footpath,
then it is the Highway Authority and Officers advice that this part of the condition
is no longer ‘necessary’ to make the development acceptable, allowing the
condition to be removed.
11.16 Whilst it is noted from the representations received that the additional measures
are considered to be a community benefit, the planning test is whether the
condition remains necessary to make the development acceptable, not whether
the measures would be a community benefit. The Highways Authority has
confirmed that this is no longer the case and Officers concur.
11.17 For the reasons outlined above therefore, the highway works secured by
condition 16 are not considered to be necessary for the development of the test
track and evaluation centre, subject of the extant full planning permission.
Commencement of the use of these facilities without these additional highways
works in place would not give rise to an unsustainable form of development and

Page 69

would not result in a severe risk to highway safety. Officers recommend that the
condition can be removed.
Other matters
11.18 The other conditions of the original permission have been assessed against the
six tests and the development considered against the provisions of the
development plan as a whole.
11.19 As stated in the “Relevant History” section of this report, many of the conditions
of the original permission had been discharged prior to the submission of this
application under section 73 of the Planning Act. The details submitted to
discharge those conditions have been submitted with this new application. It
therefore stands to reason that, although still considered necessary, the relevant
conditions need modifying to reflect the need for compliance with the details now
submitted rather than requiring their submission.
11.20 In some instance, such as relating to contamination, the condition of the original
permission is no longer necessary at all and is not repeated. This is because the
development is nearing completion and the requirements of the condition have
already been met. The condition requiring alternative cricket provision has been
fulfilled with facilities delivered at Broughton Cricket Club.
11.21 The development has again been considered against the duty under section 66
of the Listed Building Act given the existence within the site of the grade II listed
Hall. The significance of this designated heritage asset has not changed since
the determination of the original permission although the development permitted
by the full element is nearing completion and this has changed the setting
irrevocably. Members are reminded that this setting had already changed
markedly since the Hall was built and the harm arising from the permitted
changes is considered to be markedly less than substantial. There are also public
benefits derived from using this site for the purposes proposed, not least the
significant level of skilled employment provision.
11.22 There are no changes to the impact on the Natura 2000 sites identified with the
duties under the Habitat Regulations duly discharged. An Appropriate
Assessment was not required on the original proposal and this section 73
application does not change this stance.
Local Financial Considerations
11.23 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will
have financial implications arising from Non-Domestic Rates Revenue.
12

Balance and Conclusions

12.1

The highway works secured by condition 16 are not considered to be necessary
for the development of the test track and evaluation centre, subject of the extant
full planning permission. Commencement of the use of these facilities without

Page 70

these additional highways works in place would not give rise to an unsustainable
form of development and would not result in a severe risk to highway safety.
Officers recommend that the condition can be removed.
RECOMMENDATION
Delegate to the Planning and Building Control Manager the granting of
permission subject to conditions upon the signing of a Deed of Variation to
tie the existing s106 legal agreement to this permission.

Page 71

Annex 1
Conditions:
Full permission - Demolition of up to seven buildings including School
House, Hodgson House and Howard House. Evaluation Centre (B1)
including testing and evaluation facility (2.5km in length), car parking (242
spaces), earthworks including sound attenuation bunds, surface water
attenuation ponds, grounds maintenance shed incorporating fuel store (B1
& B8) and separate underground fuel tank. Temporary widening of eastern
access from A594 for construction vehicles.

1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 16th
January 2015.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning & Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

2.

Unless otherwise specified by separate condition, the development
hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance with the
following plans:
081010-004A Demolition Plan
081010-005A Detailed Planning dwg
081010-007 Mitigation Plan amended 29th August 2014
081010-100A Site Boundary Plan
081010-102E Masterplan
081010-103G MEC - Level 0
081010-104D MEC - Level 1
081010-105A MEC - Roof Plan
081010-106B MEC - Sections
081010-107C MEC - Elevations
081010-150A Sound Attenuation Bunds
081010-151C Planting Plan
081010-152A Underground Fuel Store
081010-153A Photovoltaic Panels to MEC
081010-154B Eastern Access
081010-500D Grounds Maintenance Shed & Fuel Store
099-02-T-PL-001B Track Plan Layout - FIA Fills
099-02-T-PL-001B Track Plan Layout - Apex Fills
099-02-3DCL-001A Track Centreline Geometry Plan
099-02-T-3DLS-001B Track Profile Chainage (8 Dwgs)
099-02-T-3DXS-001B Track Cross Sections (7 Dwgs)
099-02-T-3DCT-001B Track Contours
099-02-T-3DEW-001B Track Cut and Fill
099-02-G-PL-001B Track Conduit Plan
099-02-G-PL-002A Drainage Plan
48609-DR-S-S2-0010E Drainage strategy plan
M-Sport Environmental Statement and Environmental Statement and

Page 72

Addendum
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of Development and for the
avoidance of doubt.

3.

A lighting scheme shall be installed only in accordance with the
following approved details:
081010 1210 External lighting and bollard plan
External Lighting Types
External lighting design and Lighting Impact Assessment.
The approved details shall be fully operational before the use
commences. The measures shall be retained as approved and
maintained operational for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity and protecting
species/habitats, in compliance with the National Planning Policy
Framework and Policies S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1),
Adopted July 2014.

4.

The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the
approved Demolition and Construction Method Statement Rev A. The
approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of
any demolition or construction for the development.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring
properties, to prevent pollution of the environment and to protect important
habitats/species in compliance with the National Planning Policy.

5.

At all times the test track facility shall operate in accordance with the
most recently approved Noise Management Plan. The test track shall
operate at all times in accordance with the Community Levels as set
out in the Noise Management Plan. The Noise Management Plan
Issue 3b shall be taken as the approved Noise Management Plan
unless and until it is replaced by a review thereof. Any Noise
Management Plan shall be based on the principles and community
noise levels set out in the Noise Management Plan Issue 3b and must
include maximum noise levels as provided for below and demonstrate
compliance with the Community Levels. Any Noise Management Plan
shall include the following:
a)
b)
c)
d)

LAeq1 hour noise levels
Maximum noise levels measured in LAeq5minutes and LAmax
details of M Sport operational and management structure
details of how the Council will access a noise monitoring system at
all times
e) details of the sound control and monitoring scheme and
methodology used to demonstrate compliance with the community
levels
f) details of the measures proposed to ensure compliance with the
community levels including reference to hours of operation,

Page 73

number of days and sound levels and the type of vehicles and
activity that will be permitted at the track
g) a detailed complaints procedure
A review of the Noise Management Plan Issue 3b shall take place
within the first six months of the operational use of the test track
facility commencing and then annually thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and to minimise disturbance to wildlife,
in accordance with Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted
July 2014.
6.

There shall be no use of the track for racing of vehicles or
competition. There shall be no spectators, other than for M Sports
corporate activities.
Reason: In the interests of amenity, in accordance with Policy S32 of the
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

7.

No use of the test track shall commence until the mitigation bunding
has been constructed as approved on drawings:
081010-1105 - Sound Attenuation Bunding Positioning
081010-1106 - Sound Attenuation Bunding Sections
Reason: In the interests of preserving amenity, in compliance with the
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

8.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 or any order revoking or
re-enacting that order relating to permitted development, no use of
the land falling within Part 4 Temporary Buildings and Uses, Class B,
of the said Order shall be carried out without the prior written
approval of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of preserving amenity, in compliance with the
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

9.

The approved materials and external finish for the MEC building are
as shown in document ‘External finishes detail’. Only the materials so
approved shall be used in the development as approved.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is
compatible with the character of the surrounding area, in compliance with
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

10.

The laying of external floor surfaces shall be completed in
accordance with the following approved details:
033076-CUR-94-506-C01- External Works and Hardstanding Details
081010-1200 - Landscape plan
External Ground Finishes

Page 74

The details so approved shall be completed prior to the use of the
development commencing and shall be retained at all times
thereafter.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is
compatible with the character of the surrounding area, in compliance with
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy DM14 ofthe Allerdale
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.
11.

The means of enclosure shall be constructed only in accordance with
the following approved details:
081010-1200 - Landscape plan
081010-1201 - Screening of Waste Storage
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is
compatible with the character of the surrounding area.

12.

The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved
detailed plans for hard and soft landscaping:
Planting Plan Drawing 081010 PL/01B
Planting Plan Drawing 081010 PL/02B;
Tree/Planting Plan 081010/1104 Rev A;
All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the scheme shall be
carried out in the first planting season following completion of the
development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years
from the completion of the development die, are removed or become
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting
season with other similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development, mitigate
for removal trees/woodland and to minimise the impact of the development
in the locality.

13.

The access road, parking and hardstanding areas serving the
evaluation centre and testing facility shall be retained as approved,
and shall be capable of use for the lifetime of the development and
shall not be removed or altered thereafter, without the prior consent
of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access and parking when the
development is brought into use.

14.

The detailed drainage design/scheme as set out in the approved
document ‘Curtins Surface water drainage design report 48609-R1’,
shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in
accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements embodied within
the scheme or within any other period as may subsequently be
agreed in writing, by the local planning authority.
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage
of/disposal of surface water from the site.

Page 75

15.

The installation of underground tanks shall be completed only in
accordance with the following approved details:
Drawing 081010-152A – Underground fuel store
Curtins Surface water drainage design report 48609-R1
Klargester fuel/oil separator and alarm data sheet
The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained,
in accordance with the approved details, or any changes as may
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority.
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and the underlying
aquifer.

16.

The development shall be undertaken only in accordance with the
approved Openspace Ecological Method Statement dated February
2015.
Reason: In order to secure appropriate mitigation and monitoring of
ecology interests on and adjacent to the site, in accordance with Policy S35
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) adopted July 2014.

Outline permission - For future expansion space of 5000sqm (use class
B1), Offices 2450sqm (B1), 60 bed Hotel 6000sqm (C1) all to include
associated parking and external works.
17.

Before any works commence details of the layout, scale and
appearance, and landscaping, of the site (hereinafter called the
'reserved matters') shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out as
approved.
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess all the details of
the development.

18.

The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no
later than 16th January 2020 and the development shall begin no later
than whichever is the later of the following dates:
(a) The 16th January 2020 or (b) The expiration of 2 years from the
final approval of the reserved matters or, in the case of approval on
difference dates, the final approval of the last such matter to be
approved.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.

19.

The details submitted under the reserved matters application shall
include a programme showing the phasing of the development to be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and the
development shall not proceed other than in accordance with the
approved programme.
Reason: To serve in the public and visual interests a satisfactory correlated
order of development in accordance with the National Planning Policy

Page 76

Framework and Policies S5 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1),
Adopted July 2014.
20.

Unless otherwise specified by separation condition, the development
hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance with the
following plans:
081010-004A Demolition Plan
081010-006A Outline Planning dwg
081010-007 Mitigation Plan amended 29th August 2014
081010-100A Site Boundary Plan
081010 - 102E Masterplan
081010-151C Planting Plan
081010-154B Eastern Access
081010-500D Grounds Maintenance Shed & Fuel Store
48609-DR-S-S2-0010E Drainage strategy plan
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development and for the
avoidable of doubt.

21.

Prior to the first use of any part of the approved development full
details of a lighting scheme (including details of all lamps plus levels
and hours of illumination) for that phase has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall
be accompanied by a lighting impact assessment by a suitably
qualified engineer. Any lighting scheme shall be installed in
accordance with the approved details and shall be fully operational
before the use of that phase of development commences. The
measures shall be retained as approved and maintained operational
for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenity and protecting
species/habitats, in compliance with the National Planning Policy
Framework and Policies S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1),
Adopted July 2014.

22.

No development of any phase shall take place until a Demolition and
Construction Method Statement for that phase has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
statement shall include the following:
a Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the
development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking,
turning and compound areas;
b Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk
of damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise
from vehicles, deliveries. All measurements should make
reference to BS7445.
c Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential
properties from construction compounds including visual impact,
noise, and light pollution.

Page 77

d A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the
construction or demolition;
e Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during
construction and demolition;
f Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
g Hours of working and deliveries shall be limited to 8am until 6pm
Monday to Friday; 8am until 1pm Saturday and no working on
Sunday or Bank Holidays
h Details of construction lighting on site
i Environmental monitoring plan
j Plant usage
k Measures to prevent pollution to the water environment
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring
properties, to prevent pollution of the environment and to protect important
habitats/species in compliance with the National Planning Policy
Framework and Policies S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1),
Adopted July 2014.
23.

Before the use commences, all details of odour abatement measures
to be installed at the hotel shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to development. The
details shall be implemented as approved and retained for the lifetime
of the use of the development and shall be operated and maintained
in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring
properties, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and
Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

24.

Before the use commences a scheme showing details of sound level
data and noise control measures of all fixed plant and equipment to
be installed on site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority. The approved scheme shall be
implemented before the commencement of the permitted use and
shall thereafter be operated and retained as approved. Reason: In the
interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties, in
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

25.

No part of the external finish of any building hereby permitted shall be
constructed until details and representative samples of all external
and roofing materials (including colour finish) for that particular
building have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Only the materials so approved shall be used in
the development as approved.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is
compatible with the character of the surrounding area, in compliance with
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 78

26.

The laying of surfaces for access roads, car parks and hard
landscaping for any phase shall not commence until details of the
treatment and finishes of all surfaces for that phase of development
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority. Only the treatment and finishes so approved shall be used
in the development as approved.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development in
relation to its surroundings, in compliance with the National Planning Policy
Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted
July 2014.

27.

Details of the siting, height and type of any means of enclosure
(screen walls/fences/other means of enclosure) for each phase of the
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to being erected. The means of
enclosure shall be constructed only in accordance with the approved
details before use of that phase commences. Reason: To ensure a
satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with the
character of the surrounding area.

28.

Full engineering details showing the access, parking, turning and
loading/unloading facilities for vehicles entering/exiting the site,
including the provision of parking spaces in accordance with the
Cumbria Parking Standards, shall be submitted with any Reserved
Matters application. Where Reserved Matters are sought only in
relation to part of the scheme, the level of detail required shall be
commensurate with that part of the development. No development
shall be brought into use until the facilities have been constructed
and are available for use as approved. Such facilities shall be kept
available for the approved purpose at all times thereafter. Reason: To
ensure appropriate standards of construction.

29.

The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until
such times as a scheme to install underground tanks has been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
The scheme shall include the full structural details of the installation,
including details of: excavation, the tanks, tank surround, associated
pipe work and monitoring system. The scheme shall be fully
implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the
scheme, or any changes as may subsequently be agreed, in writing,
by the local planning authority.
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and the underlying
aquifer.

30.

No development approved by this planning permission shall take
place until such time as a detailed drainage design which
demonstrates how rainfall events up to 1 in 100 plus Climate Change

Page 79

are dealt with via on site storage. The scheme shall be fully
implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance with the
timing/phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme or within
any other period as may subsequently be agreed in writing, by the
local planning authority.
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage
of/disposal of surface water from the site.
31.

The minimum finished floor level for the hotel hereby approved shall
be set at least 300mm above the predicted 1 in 1000 year fluvial flood
levels in the Dovenby Beck for the reach of the watercourse (i.e.
between 64.32mAOD and 72.15mAOD).
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is resilient to fluvial
flooding.

32.

No development of any phase shall commence until a scheme that
includes the following components to deal with the risks associated
with
contamination of that phase has been submitted to and approved, in
writing, by the local planning authority:
a A site investigation scheme, based on the findings of the
submitted document 'M Sport Mixed Use Development at
Dovenby - Phase 1' to provide information for a detailed
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected,
including those off site.
b The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment
referred to in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation
measures required and how they are to be undertaken.
c A verification plan providing details of the data that will be
collected in order to demonstrate that the works set out in the
remediation strategy in (3) are complete and identifying any
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages,
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.
Application of this condition shall not be general but shall be
specific to areas where pollution by fuel tanks or other
contaminative storage areas has been identified. The scheme
shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To protect the water environment.

33.

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out
the approved development that was not previously identified it must
be reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority.
Development on the part of the site affected must be halted and a risk
assessment carried out and submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks are found
remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These shall be

Page 80

implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of
development) being brought into use. All works shall be undertaken
in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason: To protect the water environment and human health.
34.

No development shall commence until protective fencing has been
erected, in a manner to be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority, around the two earthwork sites and the
well shown in drawing numbers MMD-299469-EVT-DR-XX-001 and
MMD-299469-EVT-DR-XX-002 in appendix C of the Environmental
Statement Historic Environment Technical Appendix Volume III, and
the listed medieval cross base. Nothing shall be stored or placed in
any area fenced in accordance with this condition and the ground
levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation
be made. The protective fencing shall be retained as approved
throughout the construction period of the development.
Reason: To protect the listed medieval cross and remains of
archaeological interest in accordance with Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local
Plan Part 1.

35.

No development within the area of the hotel shall commence until
detailed plans for permanent protective measures to the listed
medieval cross base have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved permanent protection
measures shall be implemented following removal of the temporary
protection measures required during the construction phase, and
shall be completed before the hotel is brought into use. The approved
permanent protection measures shall thereafter be retained for the
lifetime of the development.
Reason: To protect the listed medieval cross in accordance with Policy S27
of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1.

36.

No development within the area of the hotel or future expansion
space shall commence until the applicant has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance
with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by
the applicant and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
This written scheme will include the following components:
i) An archaeological evaluation;
ii)An archaeological recording programme the scope of which will be
dependant upon the results of the evaluation;
iii) Where appropriate, a post-excavation assessment and analysis,
preparation of a site archive ready for deposition at a store
approved by the Local Planning Authority, completion of an archive
report, and submission of the results for publication in a suitable
journal.
Reason: To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to
be made to determine the existence of any remains of

Page 81

archaeological interest within the site and for the preservation,
examination or recording of such remains)in accordance with
Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1.
37 . No phase of the development shall commence until a detailed method
statement for that phase, which includes the timing of works,
proposed mitigation measures (including details and location of
replacement bat roosts or bat/bird boxes), and a monitoring strategy
during and post construction, that comprehensively addresses all
habitat and species (particularly bats) and which draws on and
incorporates the mitigation measures and recommendations of the
Environmental Statement Ecology Technical Appendix, the
Environmental Statement Landscape and Visual Technical
Appendix, the Woodland Management Plan, Arboricultural Report, and
Botanical Assessment, has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. That phase of development shall be
undertaken only in accordance with the approved method statement.
Reason: In order to secure appropriate mitigation and monitoring of
ecology interests on and adjacent to the site, in accordance with policy S35
of the Allerdale Local Plan.
38. Any reserved matters application seeking approval of the details of
landscaping shall include:
(1) details of any individual trees to be retained, together with
measures for their protection during construction
(2) measures for the protection of areas of woodland during
construction (3) details of a replacement planting scheme at a ratio
of 1:1 for all other trees/woodland
All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the landscaping
details shall be carried out in the first planting season following
completion of the development and any trees or plants which within a
period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced
in the next planting season with other similar size and species, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development, mitigate
for removed trees/woodland and to minimise the impact of the development
in the locality.

Page 82

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84

Agenda Item 9
Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application FUL/2019/0160
Development Panel Report
Reference Number:
Valid Date:
Location:
Applicant:
Proposal:

FUL/2019/0160
25/06/2019
Verona Blitterlees Wigton
Mr Steve Clark
Application for construction of 5no. detached
bungalows

UPDATE
This application was originally considered by Members on the 1st October 2019. A
decision on the application was deferred pending further information in relation to
flooding and surface water. This resulted from a request for further information from the
Local Lead Flood Authority that had been received late in the processing of the
application and differed in their approach to a previous application for housing at this
site, when planning permission was granted in outline in 2017.
Subsequent to the deferral, a number of iterations of a Flood Risk Assessment and
Drainage Strategy Report has been provided and consulted on. In April 2021, following
direct liaison with the Local Lead Flood Authority at Cumbria County Council, Flood Risk
Assessment and Drainage Strategy Report Version 4 was submitted, along with a
revised set of site layout plans, and detailed drainage drawings to reflect that report.
This further set of information has been the subject of re-consultation with the flood risk
and drainage bodies, the Parish Councils and the public.
In June 2021, the Local Lead Flood Authority responded, confirming that this revised
assessment and detailed plans were now acceptable. This is set out in more detail
below – as the original report to Development Panel has been updated where
necessary.
RECOMMENDATION
GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS

1

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

Principle of Development

Planning permission has been granted for
the site for five dwellings (ref.
2/2016/0727) during the current plan
period, but this has now expired.

Page 85

Therefore, the principle of the
development has already been accepted
under the current Development Plan.
Blitterlees is a Limited Growth Village as
defined in Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local
Plan, (Part 1) and Limited Growth Villages
are identified as suitable for small-scale
development, in order to contribute
approx. 6% of the overall housing supply
for the Borough. The proposal is
considered to be small scale, well related
to the village, and of an appropriate
density.
Within the recently adopted Allerdale Local
Plan Part 2, the site falls within the defined
settlement limit of Blitterlees and is
identified as a housing commitment. The
principle of housing at this location is
therefore considered to accord with Part 1,
Policy S3, and Part 2 of the Plan.
The proposal would bring benefits
principally arising from the provision of
additional housing to meet the needs of
the Borough, as anticipated in the
settlement hierarchy. Some associated
economic benefits would arise for the
construction industry. Limited adverse
impacts have been identified and these
adverse impacts would not significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits
when assessed against the policies of the
Framework, taken as a whole.
Visual Impact

The visual impacts of the development are
considered to be acceptable. Blitterlees
consists of a mix of house types and styles
and the design of the single storey
dwellings proposed is considered to be
acceptable.

Landscape Impact

Given the large scale and wide open
nature of this landscape subtype (Coastal
Plain), this small scale encroachment is
considered to be acceptable.

Residential Amenity

An acceptable relationship with

Page 86

neighbouring properties is considered to
be achieved.
Ecology

A survey has been provided which
demonstrates that Great Crested Newts
are unlikely to be affected by the proposal.

Drainage

Localised flooding issues with the beck
along the site frontage and standing water
have been highlighted by representations
received from the public.
Subject to conditions, no concerns have
been raised by the Environment Agency or
United Utilities.
The County Council as Local Lead Flood
Authority has sought further information to
substantiate local concerns. This
additional information has now been
provided to the satisfaction of the Local
Lead Flood Authority and they raise no
objection to the proposal subject to
conditions to include securing of the flood
risk and drainage details provided on the
23rd April 2021.

Trees/Hedgerows

Following amended plans, no significant
removal is required. A new hedgerow is
proposed to the rear of the site that would
compensate for any limited hedgerow
removal to the site frontage.

Affordable Housing

No provision has been sought on the basis
that the proposal is for less than 10
dwellings and the gross floor space for the
five dwellings combined does not exceed
1000sqm.

2.

Introduction

2.1

This application seeks full planning permission for the construction of five
dwellings (bungalows).

2.2

The site has benefitted from outline planning permission for the same number of
dwellings. This earlier application was approved by members of the Development
Panel in February 2017 (2/2016/0727). A subsequent reserved matters
application was made in relation to this earlier outline approval (RMA/2019/0003)

Page 87

but was subsequently withdrawn because the site area denoted by the red line
for the application was larger than the original outline approval, and changes
were sought to the proposed layout of the scheme from those originally
considered and approved.
2.3

To overcome these issues a full application was made. At the time of
submission, the outline permission for the same development remained extant.
However, during the course of the consideration of this application, that previous
planning permission has expired. However, it remains a material consideration
that the principle of housing at this location has been considered acceptable
during the current plan period.

3.

Proposal

3.1

Full planning permission is sought for the construction of 5no. detached
bungalows.

3.2

The submitted plans indicates that the five dwellings would be provided in a
linear form fronting the highway, the B5300. The proposed units would be single
storey only. Each unit would have a front and rear garden with a private road
running to the rear of the site, providing access and parking to the individual
plots.

3.3

The access point is shown as the existing field access towards the northern
boundary of the site.

3.4

The Plans for considertaion are:19.1952.1A Existing
19.1952.5 Existing Site Plan
19.1952.5 Existing Site Sections
19.1952.2C Proposed Site Plan received 23rd April 2021.
C-0748-02 rev B Surface Water Catchments Layout received 23 rd April 2021.
C-0748-01 rev C Outline Drainage Layout received 23rd April 2021.
C-0748-03 rev A FW Outfall Section, Road ConstructionDetails, SW Outfall
Section received 23rd April 2021.
C-0748-04 Proposed Site Layout
Site Location Plan
19.1952.14 Plot 5, Proposed elevations, Type 2 Version 3
19.1952.12 Plot 3, Proposed elevations, Type 2 Version 2
19.1952.11 Plot 2, Proposed elevations, Type 1 Version 1
19.1952.10 Plot 1, Proposed elevations, Type 2 Version 1
19.1952.13 Plot 4, Proposed elevations, Type 1 Version 2
19.1952.7B Existing & Proposed Street Scene
19.1952.8 Proposed Ground Floor Plan V2
19.1952.3 Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Page 88

Revised Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Report Issue 4, Hamilton
Technical Services, dated 29th March 2021, has also been provided.

4.

Site

4.1

The proposal relates to part of an agricultural field located to the north of the
settlement of Blitterlees and to the east of the main road to Silloth (the B5300).
The site extends to 0.66ha, is flat and used as grazing land. To the front of the
site with the highway there is a grass verge which varies in width, a beck which
runs to the full frontage and to the southern boundary of the site, and a
hedgerow. To the south a small cluster of trees separate the site from existing
housing. Housing also exists opposite the site to the west. Land to the north and
east is open, undeveloped fields, also consisting of flat, grazing land.

5.

Relevant Planning History

5.1

OUT/2016/0727 - Outline planning application for 5 no dwellings (with layout and
scale to be considered at the outline stage). Approved 7th February 2017.

5.2

RMA/2019/0003 - Reserved matters application for construction of 5no. detached
bungalows with access, appearance and landscaping considered following
outline approval 2/2016/0727. Withdrawn.

6.

Representations
Silloth Town Council

6.1

8th July 2019 – Recommend approval.
30th September 2020 – Whilst the Council notes concerns of residents, this is an
amendment and there is not a lot the Council can do other than accept it.

Holme Low Parish Council
6.2

15th July 2019 - Objection on grounds of:
a) Access and visibility are not good along this stretch of road, particularly as
there is a blind bend towards the Beckfoot end of the road which is a
concern. Visibility would need to be improved to ensure the safety of
vehicles accessing the site.
b) The land is unsuitable for building on as it is often under water during the
wetter months of the year. After heavy rainfall the road often floods due to
the beck overflowing. Parts of the beck have not been cleaned out in over
40 years which contributes to the problem.

Page 89

c) Drainage is another concern. All of the houses are piped into the main
sewer which is pumped to the Blitterlees pumping station and then to the
Airfield which is already overloaded as it is, without additional demand on
the system.
th
20 March 2020 - Maintain objection.
26th July 2020 - Maintain objection.
5th October 2020 – Maintain objection.
ABC Environmental Health
6.3

No objection.
Cumbria County Highways/LLFA

6.4

Original Response - Note that the site is shown as being in flood zone 1, with a
low risk of flooding and minimal chance of infiltration resulting in overland flows to
the watercourse. It is also noted that several of the locals have raised the fact
that the site has been known to flood under conditions of heavy rain fall. This
point needs to be investigated to establish what risk this could pose for the new
houses. If this can be substantiated, then the surface water drainage for the site
should be reassessed further. If not, then it is recommend that the application
should be approved subject to the conditions being included in any notice of
consent that include: Traffic Management Plan, highway construction and lighting
details with timing of provision, and a full scheme for surface water drainage.
The latter shall include consideration of overland flow from the adjacent fields,
together with an identified exceedance route, these need to be included in the
sites drainage design. Road Safety Audits Stages 1 & 2 need to be submitted as
part of the submission of details for conditions relating to road details.
7th January 2020 - Insufficient information relating to local flooding issues
30th March 2020 – Insufficient information relating to local flooding issues.
17th July 2020 – Further information requested relating to:
1) Site investigation for ground conditions was not tested in accordance of
BRE365. (Design guide requirements) Proper tests are required to show what
the water table level is in this area, it needs to be established to ascertain the
suitability of the type of water storage system to be used with regards infiltration
and buoyancy.
2) The invert level of the outlet to the watercourse appears to be at the bed of the
stream, I wonder how effective any flap would be in stopping any back flow.
3) Exceedance routeing of flood water needs to be identified across the site
together with over land flow routeing too.
4) The drainage strategy proposes widening of the watercourse yet this does not
appear to be included on the layout plan.
5) The cross sections provided do not show the road levels in relation to the
development and the road levels provided appear different to that shown on OS
layers and lidar data for the area. The ground level survey needs rechecked.

Page 90

February 2021 – FRA required to address the following:
 Discrepancy on storage volumes displayed on initial layout details to more
detailed drawings later in the document
 Volume calculations that give how storage has been sized has not been
included along with the micro drainage details.
 More details of the impervious storage tank rapping to prevent ground
water infiltration. Lack of cut off drainage from remaining field not being
developed to prevent overland flows encroaching on the new
development. Including garden drainage and discharges to the main river.
Consideration to kisted hedge with the cut off drainage.
 Consideration to a more sustainable approach for the access road to the
use of Type C permeable paving.
 Provision of new cross sections to show ground floor levels in relation to
the main river and existing topography of the site.
 Drainage details to improve final discharge to the main river with separate
Headwall downstream of site access.
 Culvert condition of existing site access needs provided to show it is
adequate to remain as access to the new development.
6.5

Final Response - No objections subject to conditions. The latest submission has
addressed the issues concerns previously raised in February 2021.
Fire Officer

6.6

No comments received.
Environment Agency

6.7

Original response – No objection. Blitterlees beck is a main river and any works
within 8 metres of the main river may require the prior written consent of the
Environment Agency. The grant of planning permission does not guarantee that
an Environmental Permit will be given.
18th October 2019 – Information provided showing evidence of flooding on site. In
absence of FRA, raise objection to the proposal.
8th January 2020 – Maintain objection, FRA not included within Drainage
Strategy.
20th March 2020 – Note FRA Issue 1. Maintain objection. FRA fails to:
1.
Reach any satisfactory conclusion in the relation to the potential
mechanisms for flooding affecting the site, either now or over the lifetime of the
proposed development as result of climate change.
2.
Recommend any principal flood risk mitigation measure to manage risks
to people and property over the lifetime of the development. This would include
defining a design flood level to inform any built in mitigation e.g.
recommendations for safe Finished Floor Levels of the proposed new properties
in m AOD.
3.
Assess the impact of the proposed surface water drainage scheme into
the main river.

Page 91

4.
Assess the likelihood of proposals increasing flood risk elsewhere, and
propose mitigation to prevent this.
Revised FRA required.
6th July 2020 – Note revised FRA and drainage drawings provided June 2020.
Points raised in letter of 20 March 2020 satisfactorily addressed and remove
objection. Development must proceed in strict accordance with the FRA and the
mitigation measures identified. Advisory note relating to requirements for an
Environmental Permit. Note the concerns relating to surface water flooding, but
this is outside the remit of the EA, should be directed to the LLFA for
consideration.
24th September 2020 – Reviewed the revised FRA. Further to response in July
2020, EA is no longer a statutory consultee on surface water aspects of
development. Note a Flood Risk Activity Permit was issued to Cumbria County
council on 29th jan 2020 for dredging to widen the watercourse channel within the
vicinity of the site.
April 2021 – No further comments to make.

United Utilities
6.8

First response:
No objection subject to conditions; that foul and surface water be drained on
separate systems, submission of a surface water drainage scheme, and
submission of a surface water drainage management and maintenance scheme.
Response of the 8th November 2019
Note the request of the Environment Agency for a Flood Risk Assessment. This
will trigger a requirement to update foul and surface water drainage details and
finished floor levels.
Response 26th February 2020
Note EA maintain objection, welcome site of revised FRA and additional drainage
details.
Response 17th March 2020
Should the Environment Agency remove their objection following receipt of FRA,
further details of drainage design required as well as exceedance routes.
Response of 15th July 2020
Insufficient drainage information provided.
Response of 16th October 2020:
Note that FRA provided and EA removed objection. Detailed drainage design
required for low-lying sites such as this, where the ground level of the site
appears to be below the ground level at the point where the drainage connects to
the public sewer, care should be taken to ensure that the property is not at an
increased risk of sewer surcharge. Note the technical drainage design details

Page 92

provided. Includes details for the inclusion of a non-return valve to protect the
development against the risk of sewer surcharge. The updated Flood Risk
Assessment also includes a foul water outfall section (plan reference C-0748-03
dated 11.09.2020), which shows the details of how the on-site foul water sewer
will cross underneath the existing watercourse adjacent to the site before
connecting with the existing combined sewer.
System will not be adopted by United Utilities, will need to consider risks of the
potential impact of infiltration into the proposed on-site drainage as a result of the
high water table and at the point where the proposed foul sewer crosses
underneath the existing watercourse.
We also wish to note the risk of floatation as a result of the high water table.
Whilst the proposed on-site drainage system would not be adoptable by United
Utilities, when designing the construction detail for the proposed on-site drainage
systems, the designer should consider, mitigate and manage the risks of
infiltration and floatation and any risks presented by crossing underneath the
watercourse. This is reflected in our below recommended informative for
inclusion on the decision notice.
The submitted Flood Risk Assessment refers to a flood relief scheme at
Paragraph 4.23 that will be provided at the location of the flooding incident. The
details of this flood relief scheme have not been provided. Given the ongoing
flooding and maintenance issues associated with the watercourse, which is not a
matter for which United Utilities has responsibility, we recommend that the Local
Planning Authority considers this further with other flood risk management
authorities namely the Lead Local Flood Authority and the EA. We would
recommend that you also consider with them whether there is a need for a
management and maintenance regime for the adjacent watercourse and the onsite drainage system which will remain private. Updated Flood Risk Assessment
must constitute an approved document. Condition recommended that drainage
details accord with FRA submitted and detailed drainage plans provided.
Cumbria Wildlife
6.9

No comments received.
Individual/Other representations

6.10 The application was originally advertised by press advert, site notice and
neighbour letter.
6.11 10 letters of representation were originally received prior to the application being
drafted for Development Panel’s consideration in October 2019. These
comments are summarised as follows:
a) Reference to a number of inaccuracies and contentions to other
commercial development in the submission documents.

Page 93

b) This is green belt/agricultural land, which should be retained as such.
c) Harm to the rural nature of the hamlet.
d) The Blitterlees River, known as the beck, runs parallel to the main road an
d serves as the village boundary. It often overflows during periods of heav
y rain. Existing drains are unable to cope with any overflow and
lawn is frequently waterlogged throughout the winter. The bend in the oroa
d at Stanwix corner is often submerged under standing water after adelug
e of rain. How could any additional water output from five more
houses be efficiently absorbed? Local people are very aware that the
proposed building land is already very marshy and vulnerable to
flooding.
e) The proposal for removal of excess surface water is by means of a
soakaway. The water table at Blitterlees is extremely high. A soakaway
would not be an effective means of water removal and could increase the
existing potential for flooding.
f) Genuine need? Number of unsold properties in the area. Harvest Park
properties not selling.
g) The beck is not maintained so beck bottom has risen and water is slow
moving so that older land drains no longer work. Part of a wider network of
drainage problems.
h) Removal of hedges and trees will exacerbate the problem.
i) A response is required to the points raised by the County Council on the
Reserved Matters application relating to technical drainage and access
issues that need to be resolved.
j) Blitterlees is a limited growth village. The plan states that, in limited growth
villages, a limited level of development will be supported in order to help
retain the vitality of these communities. Should this application be
approved then this development of 5 houses, on top of the recent granting
of a further development of 4 house in Blitterlees, would be a 18%
increase on properties in Blitterlees, surely that contravenes that limited
growth village definition of only allowing small scale development to take
place.
k) Blitterlees, as an area, is made up of a mix of traditional housing and
cottages. It is a shame that small villages like Blitterlees are likely to lose
their individual character just to meet housing targets that don’t even apply
to Blitterlees, turning them unnecessarily into suburbs of neighbouring
settlements.
l) Proposed consistent and identical housing design does not reflect the
diverse nature of Blitterlees.

Page 94

m) Attractive open views across the site to Lakeland Fells.
n) Refuse collection will potentially cause a hazard.
o) Development with restricted visibility on such a busy road would be
reckless.
6.11

Since deferral, a number of re-consultations have been undertaken in response
to the submission of additional information. Five further responses are noted
which pre-date the final re-consultation. The comments received are summarised
as follows:
1. United Utilities and Environment Agency have subsequently raised
concerns with the scheme and the drainage reports provided to date
are not a Flood Risk Assessment and do not address concerns.
2. Recent works have been carried out adjacent to the watercourse
alongside the proposed site, but these works were to reinforce the road
surface which was subsiding into the watercourse, a situation that was
serious risk to road traffic users. The works involved cleaning a small
section of the watercourse, reinforcing the road, and installing a curb to
prevent further erosion of the verge.
3. The watercourse has not been restored, or regraded and
understanding is that Highways have no intention of doing any further
works to the watercourse at this location. Paragraph 4.29 states that
the restoration works apparently being carried out will enable the
watercourse, which is classed as Main River, to perform its primary
functions as it did in former years and should make a very significant
reduction in the extent of flooding in Blitterlees in future years. Indeed it
is an obligation on the owners of the watercourse to carry out these
works and to maintain the flows through the system. This paragraph is
totally misleading and is suggesting everything is in hand to address
the significant issues raised around flooding in this application, when
the reality is that the situation is no further forward than the last time
the matter was discussed by the development panel 12 months ago.
4. Further information fails to provide a categorical solution to the
drainage and flooding problems arising from this site.
5. Reiterate that the beck overflows regularly, flooding from surface water
in the predominant problem. Misleading categorisation of low risk in the
submitted reports.
6. Sewers overflowing in heavy rainfall is a health hazard.

6.12

From the last round of neighbour consultations, two further letters of objection
have been received and are summarised as follows:
1. Much of the section ‘Assessment of Potential flood Risks’is
misleading and inaccurate. I can only reiterate that the beck
regularly overflows on to the site generally, (‘though not
exclusively), in winter during prolonged and heavy rainfall. When
the ground becomes waterlogged the site is the first area of the
field to become flooded.
2. The photograph showing the contents of the sewer spilling from
one of the cast iron manhole covers located in the B5300 road

Page 95

indicates that this is a health hazard, which could be exacerbated
by this development. This is not an isolated incident but a regular
occurrence.
3. Nowhere in these paragraphs is the condition of the site described,
which I guarantee would be underwater since the ground was
waterlogged and there was standing water wherever flooding
regularly occurs
4. Re-iterate that no work has been or is being carried out to upgrade
culverted sections of the watercourse or to restore and regrade
parts of the open sections of the watercourse. The entire
watercourse has not been restored or regraded, and there is no
evidence that this is about to take place any time soon.
5. During the last winter months on several occasions the water
course was full and over flowing the top of the beck, a normal
occurrence following periods of heavy rain. As there is no flow
whatsoever on the watercourse, and there is unlikely to be unless
the entire length of it is cleaned out, which covers a distance of
approximately 2 miles, much of which is underground, this overflow
is likely to continue.
6. Real concern is what happens to all the water when the beck is
overflowing and the attenuation tanks are full and begin to
discharge? Even if the beck is dredged and widened adjacent to
the site, it has already been established that downstream remains
in need of clearing and that remains the crux of the matter.
7. Submission of technical drawings outlining how the significant
flooding that occurs on this site will be addressed is fine, but the
fundamental flaw in this application is that the watercourse for
which all this additional water will be dispersed into is not fit for
purpose. Without a major investment in upgrading it along its entire
length a flood risk will continue to occur to the B5300 through
Blitterlees, and to the properties adjacent to it.
8. I am far from happy the way this planning application has been
handled. The drainage scheme presented at the outline planning
stage was completely useless and despite photographs of the
flooding being submitted and letters from many residents regarding
this issue together with many other valid points raised it was
recommended the application be approved. Permission should
never have been granted based on the unworkable drainage
scheme alone.
9. Our local Allerdale Borough Councillor informed me shortly after
that meeting that the Planning Officer had told him “it doesn’t matter
what anybody says, it is going ahead”. Apart from being
unprofessional and raising questions of motive, what is the point of
the planning department requesting residents’ views on the
development since they are going to be ignored?
10. For the last twenty months the planning department has bent over
backwards to accommodate this planning application. I presume
this fifth effort from Hamilton Technical Services is now be put
forward to the Development Panel and approved. Under the

Page 96

circumstances, I am seriously considering making a formal
complaint against the Planning Officer.
6.13

One letter of support has been received from Cllr Markley, supporting additional
housing.

7.

Environmental Impact Assessment

7.1

With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2017 the development does not fall within Schedule 1
nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA development.

8.

Duties

8.1

Regulation 9 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017
requires all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats
Directive in the exercise of their functions, particularly when determining a
planning application for a development which may have an impact on European
Protected Species ("EPS"), such as bats, great crested newts or otters.

9.

Development Plan Policies
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

9.1

The following policies are considered to apply:Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM16 - Sequential Test for Previously Developed Land
Policy DM17 - Trees, hedgerows and woodland
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 – Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
PolicyS7 - A mixed and balanced housing market
Policy S8 - Affordable Housing
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/localplan-part-1/

Page 97

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2)
9.2

The site falls within the defined settlement limit for Blitterlees and is noted as a
‘Housing Commitment’ on the maps.
No additional policies of Part 2 are considered to be relevant.
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/

10.

Other material considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (Feb 2019)
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework-2
Allerdale Council Strategy 2020 - 2030
The details of this document can be viewed here:
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/

11.

Policy weighting

11.1 Notwithstanding any duties identified above, Section 38(6) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the
development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the
planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale
Local Plan Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and Part 2 (2020) have
primacy.
11.2 In this instance there are no material considerations which would result in a
decision not being made in accordance with the development plan. Some weight
is given to the site’s planning history but this is not overbearing weight.
12.

Assessment
Principle of Development

12.1

Blitterlees is a Limited Growth Village as defined in Policy S3 of the Allerdale
Local Plan, (Part 1) and new housing is restricted to small-scale development
within the designated settlement boundary. Blitterlees, along with other Limited
Growth Villages and Infill Rounding Off Villages, is proposed to accommodate
6% of the 5,471 net additional dwellings identified by policy S3 over the plan
period.

12.3

The Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 has been adopted since this application was last
considered at Development Panel. The proposal site lies within the adopted
settlement limit for Blitterlees. Five dwellings are considered to be small scale

Page 98

and as development within the defined settlement limit, the principle of housing at
this location is considered to accord with policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan,
(Part 1).
12.3

There are no known brownfield sites within the settlement of Blitterlees and,
therefore, the sequential testing requirements of policy DM16 are considered to
be met. Whilst representations refer to the large brownfield site being developed
at Harvest Park in Silloth (former Fison’s site), within the housing strategy and
Policy S3, the rural villages including Blitterlees are intended to accommodate
additional small scale housing development to meet the overall need. Therefore,
it is not considered appropriate to refuse this greenfield site on the basis that
brownfield land exists at Silloth. This approach would not be consistent with the
Allerdale Local Plan.

12.5

Whilst the previous planning permission for five dwellings at this location has now
expired, the decision to approve housing at this location was taken within the
current Plan period and this remains a material consideration of weight to support
the application also.
Landscape and Visual Impact

12.6

The site does not fall within the Solway Coast Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB).

12.7

The site falls within Landscape Category 2c – Coastal Plain and the wider
surroundings to the north and east are characterised by flat, coastal plain with
large fields, intersected by shallow rivers and watercourses, with scarce field
cover. Land to the west beyond the B5300 falls within Landscape Category 2d –
Coastal Urban Fringe, also low lying flat land, with urban influences linked to
tourism development, and transport routes.

12.8

The proposal will extend the built form of the village into an undeveloped part of
the coastal plain and will be seen within the context/backdrop of the existing
village. Given the scale of this wide open and flat landscape, which extends
considerably to the north and east of the site, this encroachment is not
considered to have any significant impact on the wider landscape character and
is therefore considered acceptable in regard to policy S33 of the Allerdale Local
Plan Part 1.

12.9

As discussed above, the proposal will follow the linear pattern of development of
Blitterlees and the proposal is considered to be of a scale appropriate to the size
of the settlement. Single storey development would fit with the character of the
village, which is a mix of single and two storey development, traditional and
modern. The density of the development is considered to reflect that of the
village.

12.10 Whilst the proposal will alter the open aspect of the site for visual receptors, the
low density of development and the backdrop of the village to the south and east
would ensure that the wider visual impacts of the development are acceptable.
Adequate separation between the proposed units would allow views to be
retained through the site.
12.11 Amended plans have been provided to reduce the symmetry of design for the
individual dwellings, following some concerns raised by objectors that five
identical bungalows would not reflect the character of Blitterlees, which
predominantly consists of a wide range and mix of housing styles. This variation

Page 99

in design has been secured through a wider mix and arrangement of materials,
and variations in roof design and window design. As a result of the amendments,
the level of symmetry in the design of the units has reduced, to better reflect the
character of the village.
12.12 Further to these amended plans, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in
relation to policies S4 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1.
Residential amenity
12.13 Separation distances exceeding 30m would be achieved with existing
development opposite the site. This is considered to be sufficient to ensure that
the proposal would not result in unacceptable levels of overlooking,
overshadowing or overbearing impact.
12.14 The proposal would be separated from housing to the south by an existing small
coppice of trees and therefore this relationship is considered to be acceptable.
12.15 The proposal is not considered to result in any significant level of harm to
residential amenity and is considered to be acceptable in this regard, in
accordance with policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan.
Ecology
12.16 Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan and advice contained within the NPPF
requires that new development should in the first instance, avoid harm to
biodiversity. Where this is not possible, any harm should be mitigated. As a last
resort, any significant harm should be compensated for.
12.17 The site forms part of a larger field used for grazing, with a traditional hedge and
some small trees to the frontage. Blitterlees beck runs to the front of the site with
the highway. The proposal has been amended to retain the majority of the
hedgerow to the front, albeit some small trees are proposed for removal. These
small trees are not considered to be worthy of protection. A further native
hedgerow and additional planting is indicated on the amended layout plan and a
condition is recommended, should planning permission be granted, for the
submission of a detailed landscaping scheme to secure this. Whilst the proposal
will result in an increase in hardsurfacing across the site arising from the building
footprint, parking and access road, this loss of grazing land cannot be avoided,
but can be appropriately compensated for by the proposed hedgerow and
landscaping that is likely to be more diverse than the grassed field.
12.18 The application submission includes the same Ecological Appraisal submitted for
the previously approved application, which considers the potential for the
development to impact on Great Crested Newts. The survey report indicated that
all waterbodies within 500m of the site were considered at the time and
concluded that Great Crested Newts were not likely to be present following site
inspection, habitat suitability scoring and environmental DNA analysis. The
report recommends further survey effort if the scheme is significantly delayed or
site conditions change.
12.19 Whilst the report dates from 2016, conditions at the site have not significantly
altered and therefore it is considered unlikely that the proposal will have any
significant impact on this protected species. It is the developer’s responsibility to
ensure that the proposal, if approved, does not impact on protected species and
an advisory note is recommended in this respect.

Page 100

12.20 In addition to the Great Crested Newt, Natterjack Toads, also a European
protected species (EPS) have been recorded in the locality. However, the habitat
suitable for this species are the coastal dunes to the west of the B5300. The
ecologist has therefore previously confirmed that no survey effort was considered
necessary at this site for this species.
12.21 The proposal is considered unlikely to result in any harm to protected species. It
is considered that the proposal will not result in significant harm to biodiversity.
The proposal avoids harm to the hedgerow to the site frontage and the proposed
new native hedgerow to the rear boundary and additional planting within the
scheme, will be sufficient to compensate for the loss of the site from grazing land
to residential land, in accordance with policies S35 and DM17, and advice
contained within the NPPF.
Flood Risk and Drainage
12.22 Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to ensure that new development is
directed away from areas of higher flood risk and that it does not increase flood
risk to others, through a sustainable approach to surface water drainage.
12.23 A Drainage Strategy Report was originally provided with the application, which
indicated that ground conditions are not suitable for soakaways and therefore an
attenuated discharge into the adjacent watercourse was proposed. Attenuation
tanks are indicated under the shared driveway.
12.24 The Environment Agency indicates that the beck running along the site frontage
is classified as a main river. The site itself is allocated as Flood Zone 1 on the EA
maps. Maps showing surface water flooding potential indicate that the beck and
a narrow strip of land immediately adjacent to the beck has a higher chance of
flood risk, but the remainder of the site is at low risk.
12.25 No concerns were originally raised with the proposal by the Environment Agency
or United Utilities, subject to conditions including a detailed drainage scheme to
be submitted for approval, to include attenuated run-off rates, and management
and maintenance of the drainage system.
12.26 Prior to the application being considered by Members in October 2019, the
County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) provided a response to the
proposal, highlighting the representations from the public, which raised issues
with localised flooding at the site during heavy rainfall. Some Members will recall
that members of the public provided photographic evidence of this as part of their
presentations to members at the Panel meeting itself. The LLFA considered that
these points needed to be investigated further to establish what risk this could
pose for the new houses. If this was substantiated, then they advised that the
surface water drainage for the site should be reassessed further. If not, then it
was recommend that the application should be approved subject to the
conditions being included in any notice of consent that include: A full scheme for
surface water drainage, a Traffic Management Plan, highway construction and
lighting details with timing of provision.
12.27 Having considered this response and the information presented, Members took
the decision to defer the application in October 2019, to allow this issue to be
investigated and considered further. Subsequently, having been sent the
photographic evidence of localised flooding at the site directly by members of the
public, the Environment Agency formally objected to the application.

Page 101

12.28 As will be seen from the ‘Representations’ section above, a number of reconsultations have been triggered with the statutory consultees for drainage and
flood risk over the last 20 months, as numerous iterations of the Drainage
Strategy including Flood Risk Assessment, and detailed drainage plans have
been provided. Over this period, the Environment Agency, United Utilities and the
Local lead Flood Authority have all sought additional information, which has
culminated in the submission of the amended documents noted at section 3.4
above.
12.29 The following points from the revised Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage
Strategy Report Issue 4, Hamilton Technical Services, dated 29 th March 2021,
are noted:
 Notes localised flooding concerns and comments that a scheme of
upgrading the culverted sections of the watercourse, has commenced and
may be completed by the time this revised report is issued. This should
enable a great improvement and restoration of the capacity of the local
drainage systems to convey flows away from Blitterlees.
 Works appear to be being carried out to restore and regrade parts of the
existing open sections of the local watercourse also.
 Surface water is proposed to discharge to the adjacent beck. The
proposed surface water drainage system will have a restricted rate of
discharge to the watercourse, controlled by a Hydro-brake system with a
design flow characteristic of 4.0 l/s maximum during all storm events up to
a 1 in 100 Yr 600minute event. A climate change allowance is included in
the design calculations, set at a 40% increase in rainfall over the lifetime
of the development. Two attenuation tanks are included within the surface
drainage and along with the storage volume available in the system
pipework and chambers will provide a storage volume of 80 CuM. The
system is also designed to contain all flows without exceedance being
created.
 Foul water will connect to the sewer. The outfall to the public sewer will
include a “non-return” vale to prevent backing up of the public system into
the onsite private drains.
 This valve will ensure that in the event of flooding emanating from the
public sewer system no effluent will be allowed to flow “back” into the site
drains. The cover level of the sewer manhole in the B5300 is shown at
7.180m AOD and the finished floor levels of the new dwellings will be set
at 7.72m AOD. This ensures the new dwellings have a freeboard of
540mm when compared to the sewer cover level and the properties will be
fully protected from flooding from the public sewers.
 Based on a maximum allowable run-off rate, from the developed site, of
4.0 l/s and a climate change allowance of 40% rainfall increase, a required
attenuation volume of between 61 and 101 CuM. The new surface water
drainage system will have a restricted maximum design outflow
characteristic of 4.0 l/s through the Hydro-brake unit. The system will
include two attenuation tanks providing 51.68 m3 and 38.0 m3 giving a
total attenuation volume on site of 99.9 m 3 inclusive of pipework and
chambers.
 Calculations show a significant reduction in the discharge rates from the
site of 10% during a 2 Yr event, rising to approximately 45% during a 30

Page 102













Yr event and to 55% during a 100 Yr event. Additionally there will be no
surface flooding during these events and no risk of flooding on site or to
surrounding properties.
It is proposed to set the finished floor levels of the new dwellings at 7.72m
AOD and to regrade the site to new finished ground levels sloping from
approximately 7.70m AOD along the eastern edge down to the existing
bank levels along the watercourse to the western and southern
boundaries. Finished ground levels around the new dwellings will be set at
around 7.50m AOD which a 220mm freeboard around the footprint of the
buildings.
The lowest point on the site perimeter on completion of the development
will be at the site access where the finished ground level will be 7.42m
AOD. Should the watercourse become overloaded for any reason and
cause water to back up within the ditch adjacent to the site, excess flows
would exit the site at the site entrance and the maximum flood water level
would be approximately 7.45 - 7.47m AOD leaving a safe freeboard round
the dwellings of 250mm or more.
A “French” drain will be installed along the eastern side of the new access
road to intercept overland flows and direct these around the edge of the
site to outfall into the watercourse. A new hedge line is also to be planted
along the eastern site boundary and consideration will be given to creating
a “kisted” hedge line to further restrict overland flows that could enter the
site.
The new access road will be constructed using fully porous macadam
surfacing. A secondary under-drain will be installed along the western
edge of the roadway to collect rainwater after it has soaked into the road
structure. These under-drains will be connected into the sites main
drainage and attenuation system.
The measures detailed above will keep the dwellings free of the ingress of
any flood water and will allow safe entry and exit from the properties via
the rear driveways and access road for residents and any emergency
service vehicles or personnel.
The developer proposes, through agreement and with the permission of
the Environment Agency, to carry out any works necessary to clean or
restore the watercourse adjacent to the development by removing
accumulated silt and debris, restoring the original profile of the channel
both cross sectionaly and longitudinally and cleaning out the short culvert
below the access road. This culvert will be CCTV surveyed to ascertain its
structural and operational status and any necessary repairs will be carried
out at the time of the construction of the site access road.

12.30 In response to these various stages of consultation, the Environment Agency,
United Utilities and finally the Local lead Flood Authority, have all confirmed no
objection to the proposal, having reviewed the revised information provided and
subject to conditions that secure the mitigation measures and principles of the
Flood Risk Assessment and the detailed technical drainage drawings.
12.31 Whilst Officers note that, understandably, residents remain concerned by the
proposal and issues with localised flooding and the potential to exacerbate this,
the technical advice of the Environment Agency, United Utilities and the Local
Lead Flood Authority is that the proposal can now be considered for approval

Page 103

subject to conditions. It is based on this advice that Officers consider the
proposal to be acceptable having regard to policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan
Part 1, subject to inclusion of conditions as requested by those consultees.
Affordable Housing Provision
12.32 Affordable housing policy has been amended through the adoption of Part 2 of
the Allerdale Local Plan. Policy SA3 requires provision of an element of
affordable housing where 10 dwellings are proposed or the cumulative floorspace
exceeds 1000sqm. The proposals do not exceed these thresholds and therefore
it is not necessary to seek a propostion of ‘affordable’ hosuing as part of the
development.
Heritage
12.33 At the last meeting of the Development Panel, questions were raised as to the
presence of an 18th Century cottage that could potentially be impacted by the
proposal. Officers have re-checked the Council’s mapping system and can
confirm that there are no listed buildings within the vicinity of the site.
12.34 There is a traditional dwelling to the south of the site, which has a detached
single storey stone outbuilding to the side, with corrugated roof. These structures
are not listed and whilst traditional in construction and appearance, do not
appear to be elevated above other traditional buildings in the locality, sufficient to
warrant local listing. Regardless of their status, these traditional buildings are
positioned amongst modern dwellings. As such, modern development already
forms an established part of their setting and therefore additional housing at the
application site is not considered likely to have any greater impact on the setting
of local traditional buildings than those that presently exist. The same applies to
traditional buildings to the opposite side of the road, which are interspersed with
modern housing.
12.35 No concerns are therefore raised in relation to Policy S27.
Local Financial Considerations
12.36 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal has
possible financial implications in terms of the New Homes Bonus and Council
Tax Revenue.

13.

Balance and conclusions

13.1

Blitterlees is a Limited Growth Village as defined in Policy S3 of the Allerdale
Local Plan, (Part 1) and Limited Growth Villages are identified as suitable for
small-scale development within existing settlement limits, in order to contribute
approx. 6% of the overall housing supply for the Borough. The proposal is
considered to be small scale, well related to the village, and of an appropriate
density. The proposal falls within the defined settlement limit of Blitterlees.

13.2

The proposal would bring benefits principally arising from the provision of
additional housing to meet the needs of the Borough, as anticipated in the

Page 104

settlement hierarchy. Some associated economic benefits would arise for the
construction industry. Limited adverse impacts have been identified above and
these adverse impacts would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits when assessed against the policies of the Framework, taken as a whole.

RECOMMENDATION
GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS

Page 105

Annex 1
CONDITIONS
Time Limit:
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

In Accordance:
2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following plans:
19.1952.2C Proposed Site Plan received 23rd April 2021.
C-0748-02 rev B Surface Water Catchments Layout received 23rd April 2021.
C-0748-01 rev C Outline Drainage Layout received 23rd April 2021.
C-0748-03 rev A FW Outfall Section, Road ConstructionDetails, SW Outfall
Section received 23rd April 2021.
C-0748-04 Proposed Site Layout
Site Location Plan
19.1952.14 Plot 5, Proposed elevations, Type 2 Version 3
19.1952.12 Plot 3, Proposed elevations, Type 2 Version 2
19.1952.11 Plot 2, Proposed elevations, Type 1 Version 1
19.1952.10 Plot 1, Proposed elevations, Type 2 Version 1
19.1952.13 Plot 4, Proposed elevations, Type 1 Version 2
19.1952.7B Existing & Proposed Street Scene
19.1952.8 Proposed Ground Floor Plan V2
19.1952.3 Proposed Ground Floor Plan
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Report Issue 4, Hamilton
Technical Services, dated 29th March 2021.
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations
to the scheme are properly considered.

3.

The development hereby approved shall be implemented solely in accordance
with the approved foul and surface water drainage details as shown on
drawings 19.1952.2C Proposed Site Plan, C-0748-02 rev B Surface Water
Catchments Layout, C-0748-01 rev C Outline Drainage Layout, C-0748-03 rev A
FW Outfall Section, Road ConstructionDetails, SW Outfall Section and C-074804 Proposed Site Layout, and the principles and mitigation measures set out
within Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Report Issue 4, Hamilton
Technical Services, dated 29th March, prior to the development being
completed and before occupation of any dwelling. The approved measures
shall be maintained operational at all times thereafter.
Reason: To minimise flood risk and pollution and in the interests of securing
appropriate drainage measures for the site in accordance with policy S29 of the
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 106

Pre-commencement conditions:
4.

Construction Management Plan:
No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The statement shall include the following:
a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the
development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking, turning
and compound areas;
b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from
vehicles, deliveries. All measurements should make reference to
BS7445.
c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential
properties from construction compounds including visual impact,
noise, and light pollution.
d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the
construction or demolition;
e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);
f) Programme of work for Construction phase;
g) Hours of working and deliveries;
h) Details of lighting to be used on site;
i) Highway signage/ Haulage routes.
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the
development.
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development hereby
approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy
S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of
highway safety.

5.

The carriageway, footways, footpaths, ramps etc shall be designed,
constructed, drained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and in
this respect further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before work
commences on site. The highway design details shall be informed by Road

Page 107

Safety Audits Stages 1 & 2 and ramps shall be provided on each side of every
road junction to enable wheelchairs, prams and invalid carriages to be safely
manoeuvred at kerb lines. No work shall be commenced until a full
specification has been approved and any works so approved shall be
constructed before the development is complete.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway
safety.
6.

The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays providing
clear visibility of 2.4 metres x 60 metres measured down the centre of the
access road and the nearside channel line of the major road have been
provided at the junction of the access road with the county highway.
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting
that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or object of any
kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which
exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the
visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1),
Adopted July 2014.

7.

Prior to the commencement of the development a sustainable drainage
management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall
be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The sustainable
drainage management and maintenance plan shall include as a minimum:
a. The arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a Resident's Management
Company; and
b. Arrangements concerning appropriate funding mechanisms for its ongoing
maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system (including
mechanical components) and will include elements such as ongoing
inspections relating to performance and asset condition assessments,
operation costs, regular maintenance, remedial woks and irregular
maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or any other
arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme
throughout its lifetime. The development shall subsequently be completed,
maintained and managed in accordance with the approved plan.
Reason: To manage flooding and pollution and to ensure that a managing body is in
place for the sustainable drainage system and there is funding and maintenance
mechanism for the lifetime of the development, in accordance with policies S21,
S29, S32 and S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan 2014.

Page 108

Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions:
8.

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed above
ground floor level until details of all external and roofing materials have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Only the
materials so approved shall be used in the development as approved.
The mix of render and brick materials shall be completed in accordance with
the details provided on amended drawing 19.1952B Existing and Proposed
Street Scene, 13-9-19.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of the
surrounding area, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and
Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

9.

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be built above ground floor
level until there has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority a full scheme of hard and soft landscaping which shall include
indications of all existing trees, hedges and shrubs on the site, and details of
those to be retained, together with measures for the protection in the course
of development. The submitted landscaping plan shall accord with Amended
Dwg 19.1952.2B Proposed Site Plan, 1-8-19 insofar as it specifies trees and
hedgerow to be retained and a new native hedge to the eastern boundary of
the site. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the approved
scheme shall be carried out in the first planting season following completion
of the development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years
from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with other
similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the
impact of the development in the locality.

10. The means of enclosure for the site shall be erected in accordance with
Amended Dwg 19.1952.2C Proposed Site Plan, received 23rd April 2021, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The means of
enclosure shall be constructed prior to the approved dwellings being brought
into use/occupied. All means of enclosure so constructed shall be retained
and no part thereof shall be removed without the prior consent of the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with
the character of the surrounding area and protect the privacy of occupiers.
11. No dwellings or buildings or structures shall be commenced until the access
roads, as approved, are defined by kerbs and sub base construction.
Reason: To ensure that the access roads are defined and laid out at an early stage.
To support Local Transport Plan Policies: LD5, LD7, LD8

Page 109

12. No dwellings shall be occupied until the estate road including footways to
serve such dwellings has been constructed in all respects to base course
level and street lighting where it is to form part of the estate road has been
provided and brought into full operational use.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
13. Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to prevent
surface water discharging onto or off the highway shall be submitted to the
Local Planning Authority for approval prior to the development being
constructed above plinth level. Any approved works shall be implemented
prior to the development being completed and shall be maintained operational
at all times thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management.
Other:
14. Foul drainage shall be disposed of to the adopted Public Sewerage sytem.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to
manage the risk of pollution in accordance with policies S32 and S36 of the Allerdale
Local Plan 2014.

Advisory Notes
Protected species – Great Crested Newt.
Send applicant full responses from Environment Agency 6th July 2020, United Utilities
16th October 2020 and Cumbria County Council June 2021.

Page 110

Page 111

Page 112

Agenda Item 10
Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application FUL/2021/0006
Development Panel Report

Reference Number:
Valid Date:
Location:
Applicant:
Proposal:

FUL/2021/0006
11th January 2021
Field Adjacent to A594, Maryport Road, Maryport
Mr Lee & Scott Chilton
Resubmission of application FUL/2020/0033
Construction of two new detached dwellings

RECOMMENDATION
Grant permission subject to conditions

1.

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

Principle of Development

Acceptable at this sustainable location,
within the Key Service Centre of Maryport
as defined in the settlement hierarchy of
the Allerdale Local Plan 2014. The site is
within the settlement boundary for
Maryport as defined in Part 2 of the
Allerdale Local Plan 2020.

Impact on the character of the area

The proposed two dwellings would be in
keeping with the mixed character of the
area and would be in accordance with
Policy S4.

Site Layout

The proposed site layout accords with the
relevant criteria set out in Policy DM14.

Highway Issues

The proposed access would not cause
harm to highway safety.

Page 113

2.

Introduction

2.1

The application has been called in by Councillors McCarron Holmes, Maguire &
Kendall on the grounds that it appears that the site is outside the settlement limit
and concerns are expressed regarding the egress. Officers advise members that
the settlement limits referred to by the councillors are those in the defunct 1999
Local Plan and, as explained in this report, the site is within the 2020 Part 2 Local
Plan limits.

3.

Proposal

3.1

The proposal seeks full planning permission for the construction of two detached
dwellings. Both dwellings are three storeys in height with gabled roofs. Both face
the highway and have garages on the ground floor and a shared access onto the
A594. They would sit behind the retained hedge and landscaping. The proposal
is the resubmission of application FUL/2020/0033, which was withdrawn.

3.2

The Plans for consideration are:Location plan DWG05, Amended 21st April 2021
Proposed Elevations (Plot 1) DWG02 Rev B, Amended 21st April 2021
Proposed Floor plans (Plot 1) DWG01 Rev C, Amended 21st April 2021
Proposed Elevations (Plot 2) DWG04 Rev B, Amended 21st April 2021
Proposed Floor plans (Plot 2) DWG03 Rev B, Amended 21st April 2021
Proposed Block Plan and Sections DWG06 Received 21st June 2021
The suite of submitted documents can be found online here:https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planningapplication/a3X3X000004DVqSUAW/ful20210006?tabset-e3f5c=2

4.

Site

4.1

The site is roughly rectangular in shape and is located to the south of
Ellenborough Road (A594) at the eastern edge of Maryport. The majority of the
site comprises unmanaged grass, vegetation and mature trees. A detached
building is located at the western part of the site along with a static caravan and
some gravel hardstanding. An access road and area of hardstanding serve this
building. The site slopes upwards to the south away from the road. Semi mature
trees form the roadside boundary.

5.

Relevant Planning History

5.1

FUL/2020/ 0033 -Construction of two dwellings- Withdrawn.

Page 114

6.

Representations
Town Council

6.1

No objections.
Cumbria County Highways

6.2

Drawing Number DWG01 Rev C shows 60m visibility splays in both directions
from a point of 2.4m into the site as per requirements. The plan also shows that
any walls built will be outside of the visibility splays as to not obstruct them.

6.3

The A594 is the responsibility of Connect Roads and their requirements for this
proposal are as follows:a) Section 184 agreement (of the Highways Act) would need to be in place
with full detailed design drawing showing wall, entrance construction, kerb
lines drainage and street lighting (drainage and street lighting drawings
still outstanding).
b) Drainage would be required to prevent surface water running on to the
A594, this would need to be shown on a detailed design drawing (drawing
to be provided).
c) Advise that the street lighting is extended to include the new entrance.
The current lighting stops at the neighbouring property entrance, or an
assessment is produced showing that the current lighting level is correct
for the new access.

6.4

With these points in mind, confirm that the Highway Authority and Connect
Roads have no objections subject to conditions.
Cumbria Minerals and Waste Planning Policy

6.5

The proposed development is on the edge of a settlement with other residential
development nearby. Mineral extraction on or close to the application site would
therefore not be environmentally acceptable. The safeguarding area extends
across a significant area of surrounding open land so the proposal will not
prevent access to this mineral resource for extraction in the future. It is
considered that criteria 2 and 4 of Policy DC15 (Minerals Safeguarding) in the
adopted Cumbria Minerals and Waste Local Plan are satisfied.

6.6

Cumbria County Council as minerals planning authority therefore does not object
to this application.
Fire Service

6.7

No objections.
United Utilities

6.8

No objections.

Page 115

Other representations
6.9

The application has been advertised by a site notice and neighbour letter. One
letter of objection was received via the Councillors ‘Call In’ on the basis that the
site is outside the settlement limit for Maryport.

7.

Environmental Impact Assessment

7.1

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2017. The development is not within Schedule 1, nor 2 and, as such,
is not EIA development.

8.

Duties

8.1

The site doesn’t contain, nor is it in close proximity to any listed buildings, nor is it
within or affecting a conservation area or a Natura 2000 site.

9.

Development Plan Policies
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

9.1

The following policies are considered applicable:S1 Presumption in Favour of Development
S2 Sustainable Development
S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth
S4 Design Principles
S5 Development Principles
S6b Area Based Maryport
S22 Transport Principles
S29 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
S32 Safeguarding Amenity
S33 Landscape
S35 Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity
DM14 Standards of Good Design
DM17 Trees, Hedgerow and Woodland
These policies can be found here:https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/localplan-part-1/

Page 116

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2)
9.2

The site is within the settlement limits for Maryport. The following policy applies:SA2 Settlement Boundaries
The Plan can be found here;https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/

10.

Other material considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

10.1 Paragraph 212 advises that the policies in this Framework are material
considerations which should be taken into account in dealing with applications
from the day of its publication. Paragraph 213 advises that existing development
plan policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they were
adopted or made prior to the publication of the NPPF. Due weight should be
given to them, according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF (the closer
the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight
that may be given).

11.

Policy weighting

11.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that,
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy.
11.2 The development plan policies in this instance are considered to be consistent
with the provisions of the NPPF. Full weight is afforded to them and there are no
material considerations applicable which would give rise to a decision not in
accordance with the development plan.

12.

Assessment
Principle of development

12.1 The Policies Map which accompanies Part 2 of the Allerdale Local Plan identifies
that the site is located within the settlement boundary for Maryport. The eastern
and northern boundaries of the site form the settlement boundary for the town.
12.2

Policy SA2 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 refers to settlement boundaries.
The policy states that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable
development within the settlement boundaries as defined on the Policies Map.

Page 117

Development within settlement boundaries will be supported where it is
appropriate in scale, consistent with the settlement’s role and function within the
hierarchy and complies with other relevant policies in the Local Plan. Given the
site is within the settlement boundary for Maryport and the proposal is for two
dwellings, which is considered commensurate in scale with Maryport’s role and
function as a key Service Centre, the proposal accords with Policy SA2.
12.3

Similarly, policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1, which refers to Spatial
Strategy and Growth, states that new development will be located in accordance
with the spatial strategy and will be concentrated within the towns and villages
identified in the settlement hierarchy. The scale of development proposed will be
expected to be commensurate to the size of the settlement and reflect its position
in the settlement hierarchy.
Impact on the character of the area

12.4

Policy S4 refers to ‘Design Principles’. The policy states that proposals for new
development should be visually attractive, of appropriate scale and appearance;
and respond positively to the character, history and distinctiveness of its location
and integrate well with existing development.

12.5

The proposal is for two large detached dwellings, comprising three storeys at the
front and two storeys at the rear due to the topography of the site. The two
dwellings would share a new access to be created off the A594.

12.6

The character of the area is relatively mixed. On the southern side of the A594
travelling out of Maryport, there is a row of two storey terraced dwellings
(Clarinda Terrace), an elevated two storey detached dwelling, a bungalow, an
older two storey dwelling set with a gable presenting onto the road and then a
single storey elevated dwelling adjacent to the eastern boundary of the
application site. On the northern side of the road, this area is open countryside,
outside of the settlement limit. Within this area, is a large detached property
Brooklands, and further to the east, and opposite the site is another large
detached house set down from the road so that only the roof is visible on the
approach into the town.

12.7

The proposed dwellings have been amended in size and appearance. The ridge
height has been reduced and each house now has one projecting gable. These
amendments have significantly reduced the massing of the dwellings. Although
the dwellings remain large and occupy a prominent position at the entrance to
the town, the reduction in massing is considered to be more in keeping with the
semi-rural character of this part of Maryport.

12.9

The majority of the roadside vegetation would be kept, apart from the access
point and the necessary visibility splays. The roadside frontage of the site is
approximately 75 metres in length and approximately 20 metres of vegetation
would be required to be removed to accommodate the visibility splays. Given the
majority of the vegetation could be retained, which can be secured by condition,
this would provide some screening of the dwellings. An additional plan was
submitted in June which clearly evidences how a mix of the retained hedge, new

Page 118

planting and a small bund will minimise the impact from the A594, specifically
screening much of the ground floor of both dwellings.
12.10 Overall the proposed dwellings would not be out of character with the relatively
mixed character of the locality. The provision of a split level dwelling would make
use of the topography of the site, the retention of vegetation would soften views
of the dwelling and would provide some integration into the landscape at this
important entrance of the town. The proposal would therefore accord with Policy
S4.
Layout of the proposed development
12.11 Policy DM14 requires all new development to conform to the following relevant
criteria:
a) Reinforce and respect the existing development pattern with regards to plot
size, building heights and frontage widths, particularly where they contribute to
local character. Consideration should be given to the impact on existing
developments at the boundaries of the site;
The plots for both dwellings are relatively generous with reasonable sized rear
gardens and with large frontage widths. This size of plot is in keeping with other
dwelling plots in the area and the semi-rural nature of the site. As already
detailed, three storey dwellings are uncommon in this area, but the development
uses the changes in topography and the existing landscaping to reduce the
impact to an acceptable level.
b) Respect and respond positively to the distinctive qualities of the location and
integrate with the characteristics of the site, ensuring that all external materials
and boundary treatments are appropriate to the design and distinctiveness of the
development, site and location.
The proposed dwellings would be spaced apart, creating gaps to their sides and
between each other, again reflecting the semi-rural nature of the site. The
retention of vegetation along the boundaries, apart from the access and visibility
splays, will help to integrate the dwellings in the landscape. Furthermore given
the topography of the site, it is considered that the proposal responds positively
to the location.
c) Create an attractive environment that provides appropriate levels of open and
amenity green space, privacy and amenity for the occupants of the properties;
The proposal includes rear gardens and a side patio for both dwellings. The level
of amenity space for each dwelling is therefore appropriate for the size of the
property. Overall the proposal complies with the relevant criteria within policy
DM14.

Page 119

Highway Issues
12.12 Concerns have been raised relating to the proposed access onto the A594. The
plans show a new access roughly in the centre of the site frontage with visibility
splays 2.4 metres by 60 metres in either direction. The Highway Authority raise
no objection to the proposed access.
12.13 The proposal includes a one metre rendered wall either side of the access point
and the removal of some trees to provide the necessary visibility and planting a
hedge to be maintained at a height of one metre. The Highway Authority would
prefer a boundary wall rather than a hedge as it would require maintenance.
However a hedge would have a softer appearance rather than a wall in this
streetscene. A condition requiring the hedge to be maintained at a height of one
metre to the rear of the visibility splay is considered to be sufficient.
12.14 The Highway Authority also require the submission of a detailed design drawing
to prevent surface water running on to the A594. This is also considered to be an
issue that can be dealt with by the imposition of a condition.
12.15 Overall the Highway Authority raises no objections to the proposal, subject to
conditions and therefore, Officers consider the proposal to be acceptable on
highway safety grounds.
Residential Amenity
12.16 The existing buildings on site will remain and provide a degree of separation with
other residential properties. As such, the proposal is considered unlikely to raise
any amenity issues. The new build plots will include raised terraces to the side,
but appear to be on level with garden areas at the rear, as a result of the sloping
nature of the site. As such, the proposed terraces are not expected to result in a
loss of privacy for future occupiers of the proposed housing.
Local Financial Considerations
12.17 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will
have financial implications arising from Council Tax Revenue and potentially New
Homes Bonus, albeit it is noted that the government has recently consulted on
the future of the New Homes Bonus.

13.0

Balance and Conclusions

13.1

The site is located within the settlement boundary of Maryport. The proposal
accords with Policy S3. The proposal would not be harmful to the character of the
area and the site layout provides an appropriate development in this locality.
Furthermore, the proposed access would not be harmful to highway safety. The
proposal is therefore considered to accord with the relevant policies of the
Development Plan and approval is recommended.

Page 120

RECOMMENDATION
Grant permission subject to conditions.

Page 121

Annex 1
CONDITIONS
Time Limit:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.
In accordance:
2. Unless specified by separate condition, the development hereby permitted
shall be carried out solely in accordance with the following plans:
Location plan DWG05, Amended 21st April 2021
Proposed Elevations (Plot 1) DWG02 Rev B, Amended 21st April 2021
Proposed Floor plans (Plot 1) DWG01 Rev C, Amended 21st April 2021
Proposed Elevations (Plot 2) DWG04 Rev B, Amended 21st April 2021
Proposed Floor plans (Plot 2) DWG03 Rev B, Amended 21st April 2021
Proposed Block Plan and Sections DWG06 Received 21st June 2021
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.
Pre-commencement conditions:
3. Notwithstanding the proposed submitted levels, prior to development
commencing on site details of all proposed ground levels including
finished floor levels of the building, levels of any paths, drives, garages,
terraces and parking areas (and materials of any retaining walls) shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written approval. The
development shall be carried out only in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out to a suitable level in
relation to the adjoining properties and highways and in the interest of visual
amenity and to accord with policies S4 and S33 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1
2014.
4. The access and footways shall be designed, constructed, drained and lit to
a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further details,
including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority for approval before development commences on site.
No development shall be commenced until a full specification has been
approved. These details shall be in accordance with the standards laid
down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any works so approved shall
be constructed prior to occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved.

Page 122

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of
highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1
2014.
5. No development shall commence until there has been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of hard and soft
landscaping that includes the hedge retention and planting depicted on
Proposed Block Plan and Sections DWG06 Received 21st June 2021. The
scheme shall include details of a replacement hedge to be planted behind
the visibility splays required for the proposal. All planting, seeding or
turfing comprised within the scheme shall be carried out in the first
planting season following completion of the development and any trees or
plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased
shall be replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise
the impact of the development in the locality and to accord with policies S4, S33
and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014.
Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions:
6. Prior to the occupation of each dwellings, a surface water drainage scheme
that dwelling, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National
Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site
conditions (inclusive of how the scheme shall be managed after
completion), shall have been completed in accordance with details
previously submitted for approval by the Local Planning Authority. Unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface
water shall discharge to the public sewerage system either directly or
indirectly. The development shall be completed, maintained and managed
in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to
manage the risk of flooding and pollution and to accord with policy S29 of the
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014..
7. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed above
ground floor level until details of all external walling and roofing materials
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Only the materials so approved shall be used in the development as
approved.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of
the surrounding area, in accordance with policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan
(Part 1) 2014.

Page 123

8. Details of the siting, height and type of all means of enclosure/screen
walls/fences/other means of enclosure shall be submitted to and approved
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the dwelling that
they serve. Any such walls/fences etc. shall be constructed prior to the
approved building being brought into use/occupied. All means of enclosure
so constructed shall be retained and no part thereof shall be removed
without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible
with the character of the surrounding area and safeguard the amenity of
neighbouring properties in accordance with policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local
Plan (Part 1) 2014.
.
9. The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays
providing clear visibility of 2.4 metres x 60 metres measured down the
centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the major road
have been provided at the junction of the access road with the county
highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order
revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no
structure, or object of any kind shall be erected or placed and no trees,
bushes or other plants which exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be
permitted to grow within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility
splays.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the
construction and operational use of the site, in accordance with policy S2 of the
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.
10. The access drive shall be surfaced in bituminous or cement bound
materials, or otherwise bound and shall be constructed and completed
before the development is brought into use. This surfacing shall extend for
a distance of at least 5.metres inside the site, as measured from the
carriageway edge of the adjacent highway.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014. .
11. Access gates, if provided, shall be hung to open inwards only away from
the highway.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy S22 of the
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014

Page 124

Page 125

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 126

Agenda Item 11
Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application CLDP/2021/0002
Development Panel Report
Reference Number:
Valid Date:
Location:
Applicant:
Proposal:

CLDP/2021/0002
03/06/2021
3 Honister Drive, Cockermouth, CA13 0BZ
Andrew Seekings
Certificate of Lawful Development application for a
proposed porch

RECOMMENDATION
The development is Permitted Development as defined by the Town & Country
Planning General Permitted Development Order 2015 (as amended) and a
Certificate of Lawful Development can be issued.

1.

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

The Test

The proposal complies with Schedule 2
Part 1 Class D of The Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as
amended) and therefore the works are
considered permitted development

2.

Introduction

2.1

This matter is being brought before members as the applicant is an employee of
the Council.

3.

Proposal

3.1

The applicant seeks a certificate of lawfulness proposed to determine whether
the proposed porch falls within the permitted development rights allowed to the
property.

3.2

The Plans for consideration are:Location Plan
Sketch Drawings

Page 127

Application Form

4

Site

4.1

The site comprises of a detached two storey dwelling, situated on a modern
housing estate in the town of Cockermouth.

5

Relevant Planning History

5.1

REAR/2014/0017 rear notification: 4.2m from rear wall, 3.9m across rear wall and
a total of 3.09m in height – Prior Approval.

6

Assessment:
Principle of development

6.1

Schedule 2, Part 1 Class D of The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted) Order r2015 (as amended) relates to the erection or construction of a
porch outside any external door of a dwellinghouse. The regulations details the
development is permitted by Class D if(a) permission to use the dwellinghouse as a dwellinghouse has been granted
only by virtue of Class M, N, P or Q of Part 3 of this schedule (changes of
uses);
(b) the ground area (measured externally) of the structure would exceed 3
square metres;
(c) any part of the structure would be more than 3 metres above the ground
level; or
(d) any part of the structure would be within 2 metres of any boundary of the
curtilage of the dwellinghouse with a highway.

6.2

The proposal would see the construction of a single storey porch to the front
elevation of the property.

6.3

The dwelling was built under full planning permission and therefore criterion a.is
not applicable.

6.4

The submitted information details the porch would have a floorspace of 2.96 sqm
and the total height is 2.585m. The dimensions of the porch therefore comply
with the parameters of criteria b and c above.

6.5

The porch is set back from the highway by 8.8m therefore will in excess of the
2m required under criterion d.

Page 128

7

Conclusions

7.1

The proposed porch complies with the requirements as detailed in Schedule 2
Part 1 Class D of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order and therefore can be built under permitted
development.

RECOMMENDATION
The development is Permitted Development as defined by the Town & Country
Planning General Permitted Development Order 2015 (as amended) and a
Certificate of Lawful Development can be issued.

Page 129

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 130

